UNIT IV.  CAUSES OF ACTION NOT REQUIRING DISCRIMINATORY INTENT 

Legislative History
A.  Discriminatory Advertising
U.S. Dept. of Housing & Urban Development Regulations:

Discriminatory Conduct Under The F.H.A.

24 CFR Part 100; Subpart B—Discriminatory Housing Practices 

100.75 Discriminatory advertisements, statements and notices.

(a) It shall be unlawful to make, print or publish, or cause to be made, printed or published, any notice, statement or advertisement with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling which indicates any preference, limitation or discrimination because of race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national origin, or an intention to make any such preference, limitation or discrimination.

(b) The prohibitions in this section shall apply to all written or oral notices or statements by a person engaged in the sale or rental of a dwelling. Written notices and statements include any applications, flyers, brochures, deeds, signs, banners, posters, billboards or any documents used with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling.

(c) Discriminatory notices, statements and advertisements include, but are not limited to:

(1) Using words, phrases, photographs, illustrations, symbols or forms which convey that dwellings are available or not available to a particular group of persons because of race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national origin.

(2) Expressing to agents, brokers, employees, prospective sellers or renters or any other persons a preference for or limitation on any purchaser or renter because of race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national origin of such persons.

(3) Selecting media or locations for advertising the sale or rental of dwellings which deny particular segments of the housing market information about housing opportunities because of race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national origin.

(4) Refusing to publish advertising for the sale or rental of dwellings or requiring different charges or terms for such advertising because of race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national origin.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
RAGIN v. THE NEW YORK TIMES CO.
923 F.2d 995 (2d Cir. 1991)

WINTER, Circuit Judge:  The New York Times Company appeals ...  from the denial of its motion under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) to dismiss the complaint in the instant matter.  Briefly stated, the complaint alleges that, during the past twenty years, the Times has published real estate advertisements “featuring thousands of human models of whom virtually none were black,” and that the few blacks depicted rarely represented potential home buyers or renters.  On those rare occasions when blacks were depicted as consumers of housing, moreover, the housing in question was in predominantly black areas.  Plaintiffs contend that by publishing these advertisements the Times has violated the Fair Housing Act....  Because Section 3604(c) validly prohibits the publication of real estate ads that “indicate[] any preference ... based on race,” and the complaint can fairly be read to allege that the Times has published such ads, we affirm the denial of the motion to dismiss.

BACKGROUND.  The Times is the publisher of The New York Times, a nationally known newspaper.  The individual plaintiffs are black persons who have been looking for housing in the New York metropolitan area.  Plaintiff Open Housing Center, Inc., is a not‑for‑profit New York corporation, one of the primary goals of which is to eliminate racially discriminatory housing practices. ...  A pertinent excerpt from the complaint states: 

During the twenty year period since the Act was passed ... advertisements appeared in the Sunday Times featuring thousands of human models of whom virtually none were black....  [W]hile many of the white human models depict representative or potential home owners or renters, the few blacks represented are usually depicted as building maintenance employees, doormen, entertainers, sports figures, small children or cartoon characters....

[T]he Times has continued to ... publish numerous advertisements that picture all‑white models in advertisements for realty located in predominantly white buildings, developments, communities or neighborhoods.  It has also ... published a few advertisements that picture all black models in advertisements for realty located in predominantly black buildings, developments, communities or neighborhoods. The use of human models in advertising personalizes the advertisements and encourages consumers to identify themselves in a positive way with the models and housing featured.  In real estate advertisements, human models often represent actual or potential purchasers or renters, or the type of potential purchasers or renters that the real estate owner has targeted as desirable occupants. Therefore, the repeated and continued depiction of white human models and the virtual absence of any black human models ... indicates a preference on the basis of race.... The real estate display advertisements featured by the Times indicate a preference based on race through the use of human models reflecting the predominant race of the advertised building, development or community.

The Times moved ... to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.  ... With respect to the claim under Section 3604(c), Judge Haight denied the motion to dismiss.  Responding to the Times’s arguments, he first concluded that the pattern of ads alleged in the complaint, if proven at trial, would be sufficient to support a finding that the Times had published ads that indicated a racial preference.   Second, Judge Haight concluded that the First Amendment provides no protection for such illegal commercial speech, and that requiring the Times to monitor the ads it receives would not impose an unconstitutional burden on the press.  Finally, assuming for purposes of his decision that the constitutional vagueness doctrine was applicable to civil actions involving commercial speech, Judge Haight concluded that the statute gave the Times constitutionally adequate notice of the prohibited conduct. ...


DISCUSSION.  Like any party moving to dismiss a complaint under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6), the Times must carry the burden of showing that “it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff[s] can prove no set of facts in support of [their] claim which would entitle [them] to relief.”  Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45‑46 (1957).  Given the breadth of the facts alleged in the complaint, most of the Times’s statutory and constitutional arguments amount to an assertion of immunity from Section 3604(c).  We reject those arguments.


A. 
Statutory Issues. Section 3604(c) states in pertinent part that it is unlawful: “To ... publish ... any ... advertisement, with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling that indicates any preference ... based on race....”  Beginning our analysis with the statutory language, the first critical word is the verb “indicates.”  Giving that word its common meaning, we read the statute to be violated if an ad for housing suggests to an ordinary reader that a particular race is preferred or dispreferred for the housing in question.  This standard has been adopted by the Fourth, see United States v. Hunter, 459 F.2d 205, 215 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 934 (1972), and District of Columbia Circuits, see Spann v. Colonial Village, Inc., 899 F.2d 24 (D.C.Cir.1990), and we also adopt it.

The second critical word is the noun “preference.”  The Times asks us to read that word to preclude liability for a publisher where the ad in question is not facially discriminatory and the publisher has no other evidence of a discriminatory intent.  We share that general view but with important qualifications.

The Times’s conception of what kinds of ads might be deemed by a trier of fact as facially suggesting to an ordinary reader a racial preference is intolerably narrow.  At oral argument, suggested as examples of such a facial message were real estate advertisements depicting burning crosses or swastikas.  We do not limit the statute—not to say trivialize it—by construing it to outlaw only the most provocative and offensive expressions of racism or statements indicating an outright refusal to sell or rent to persons of a particular race.  Congress used broad language in Section 3604(c), and there is no cogent reason to narrow the meaning of that language.  Ordinary readers may reasonably infer a racial message from advertisements that are more subtle than the hypothetical swastika or burning cross, and we read the word “preference” to describe any ad that would  discourage an ordinary reader of a particular race from answering it.

Moreover, the statute prohibits all ads that indicate a racial preference to an ordinary reader whatever the advertiser’s intent.  To be sure, the intent of the creator of an ad may be relevant to a factual determination of the message conveyed, but the touchstone is nevertheless the message.  If, for example, an advertiser seeking to reach a group of largely white consumers were to create advertisements that discouraged potential black consumers from responding, the statute would bar the ads, whether or not the creator of the ad had a subjective racial intent.


Keeping these general, and fairly obvious, propositions in mind, we turn to the allegations of the complaint.  Those allegations focus upon the use of models of particular races in real estate advertisements.  A threshold question is whether Section 3604(c) reaches the use of models as a medium for the expression of a racial preference.  We hold that it does.  Congress prohibited all expressions of racial preferences in 
housing advertisements and did not limit the prohibition to racial messages conveyed through certain means. Neither the text of the statute nor its legislative history suggests that Congress intended to exempt from its proscriptions subtle methods of indicating racial preferences. 

The next question is whether and in what circumstances the use of models may convey an illegal racial message.  We begin with another proposition that seems to us fairly obvious: namely, that a trier of fact could find that in this age of mass communication and sophisticated modes of persuasion, advertisers target as potential consumers groups with certain racial as well as other characteristics.  In some circumstances, such targeting conveys a racial preference, or so a trier might find.  We live in a race‑conscious society, and real estate advertisers seeking the attention of groups that are largely white may see greater profit in appealing to white consumers in a manner that consciously or unconsciously discourages non‑whites.  They may do so out of simple inertia or because of the fear that the use of black models will deter more white consumers than it attracts black consumers.  In any event, a trier plausibly may conclude that in some circumstances ads with models of a particular race and not others will be read by the ordinary reader as indicating a racial preference.

The Times does not deny that advertisers target groups but rather vigorously presses the claim that if Section 3604(c) is applied to the Times, the specter of racially conscious decisions and of racial quotas in advertising will become a reality.  We need not enter the public debate over the existence or merits of racial quotas in fields other than advertising, or look to the scope of Supreme Court decisions that permit race‑conscious decisions.  Nor do we by any means suggest that an order directing such quotas is the only appropriate or usual remedy should a publisher be found liable.

We do believe, however, that the Times’s concerns are overblown.  The quota controversy principally concerns selection of persons for competitive opportunities, such as employment or admission to college.  These are circumstances in which opinions differ whether individual skills or purely academic qualifications should govern and whether a race‑conscious decision is itself an act of racial discrimination.  The use of models in advertising, however, involves wholly different considerations.  Advertising is a make‑up‑ your‑own world in which one builds an image from scratch, selecting those portrayals that will attract targeted consumers and discarding those that will put them off.  Locale, setting, actions portrayed, weather, height, weight, gender, hair color, dress, race and numerous other factors are varied as needed to convey the message intended.  A soft‑drink manufacturer seeking to envelop its product in an aura of good will and harmony may portray a group of persons of widely varying nationalities and races singing a cheerful tune on a mountaintop.  A chain of fast‑food retailers may use models of the principal races found in urban areas where its stores are located.  Similarly, a housing complex may decide that the use of models of one race alone will maximize the number of potential consumers who respond, even though it may also discourage consumers of other races.

In advertising, a conscious racial decision regarding models thus seems almost inevitable.  All the statute requires is that in this make‑up‑your‑own world the creator of an ad not make choices among models that create a suggestion of a racial preference.  The deliberate inclusion of a black model where necessary to avoid such a message seems to us a far cry from the alleged practices that are at the core of the debate over quotas.  If race‑conscious decisions are inevitable in the make‑up‑your‑own world of advertising, a statutory interpretation that may lead to some race‑conscious decisionmaking to avoid indicating a racial preference is hardly a danger to be averted at all costs.

Moreover, the Times’s argument would prevent a trier of fact from scrutinizing the selection of models and inferring from that selection and from the surrounding circumstances a race‑conscious decision.  The creator of an ad may testify, “Gosh, I didn’t notice until this trial that all the models for tenants were white and the model for a custodian was black.”  However, a trier may justifiably disbelieve such an assertion in light of all the circumstances, much as triers of fact are allowed to draw inferences of racial intent in other contexts, or may consider such an assertion an inadvertent or unconscious expression of racism.

 Given this scope for fact‑finding, the present complaint cannot be dismissed for failure to state a claim for relief.  It alleges a long‑standing pattern of publishing real estate ads in which models of potential consumers are always white while black models largely portray service employees, except for the exclusive use of black models for housing in predominantly black neighborhoods.  Finally, it alleges that this pattern reflects a targeting of racial groups.  Given the ordinary reader test, it can hardly be said that these allegations are insufficient to enable plaintiffs to prove that the Times has published, and continues to publish, some discriminatory ads.

In the proceedings to follow, the standard for liability will no doubt be sharpened in the context of the parties’ evidentiary submissions.  We believe it useful to make some preliminary observations on that standard, however.  First, we agree with the Times that liability may not be based on an aggregation of advertisements  by different advertisers.  Although the twenty‑year pattern alleged in the complaint may have been a powerful engine for housing segregation and, if proven, will almost certainly include violations of Section 3604(c), the statute provides a prohibition only with regard to individual advertisers.

Second, as stated, liability will follow only when an ordinary reader would understand the ad as suggesting a racial preference.  The ordinary reader is neither the most suspicious nor the most insensitive of our citizenry.  Such a reader does not apply a mechanical test to every use of a model of a particular race.  An ad depicting a single model or couple of one race that is run only two or three times would seem, absent some other direct evidence of an intentional racial message, outside Section 3604(c)’s prohibitions as a matter of law.  A housing complex that runs ads several times a week for a year depicting numerous white models as consumers and black models as doormen or custodial employees would have difficulty persuading a trier of fact that its ads did not facially indicate a racial preference.  It thus seems inevitable that the close questions of liability will involve advertisers that either use a large number of models and/or advertise repetitively.  In such cases, the advertiser’s opportunities to include all groups are greater, and the message conveyed by the exclusion of a racial group is stronger.


B. 
Constitutional Issues.  The Times argues that Section 3604(c) is void for vagueness.  Even if we indulge in the assumption that the vagueness doctrine applies to civil actions, we believe the ordinary reader standard provides constitutionally adequate notice of the prohibited conduct.  As Judge Haight observed, “[t]he ‘ordinary reader’ is nothing more, but nothing less, than the common law’s ‘reasonable man’:  that familiar creature by whose standards human conduct has been judged for centuries.”  The Times’s argument seems based on an unstated premise either that the selection of models in advertising is entirely random or that publishers of major newspapers lack the sophistication to notice racial messages that are apparent to others.  The premise regarding the random selection of models is baseless, and we have more confidence in the perspicacity of publishers than do the Times’s lawyers.  Of course, close questions will arise, as they do in every area of the law, but we cannot say in the context of a facial challenge to the statute that the ordinary reader test—as Judge Haight noted, not a novel, untried concept—is a hopelessly vague legal standard. …
The Times also raises a number of arguments concerning purportedly unconstitutional burdens imposed by §3604(c).  First, the Times argues that enforcement of the Fair Housing Act against newspapers will compromise the unique position of the free press. As the Supreme Court in Pittsburgh Press was unable to discern any significant interference with the traditional “protection afforded to editorial judgment and to the free expression of views ... however controversial,” 413 U.S. at 391, so we perceive no disruption of the press’s traditional role that will result from prohibiting the publication of real estate ads that, to the ordinary reader, indicate a racial preference.

Second, the Times contends that the press cannot be compelled to act as an enforcer of otherwise desirable laws and that such an obligation imposes unconstitutional special burdens on the press.  The Times relies upon Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel, 471 U.S. 626 (1985).  Zauderer, however, is wholly inapposite.  In pertinent part, that decision addressed the constitutionality of a broad prohibition on the use of advertising by lawyers to give unsolicited legal advice and to recommend their own hiring. Although the ads in question were conceded to be truthful, the State attempted to justify the ban on the grounds that ads of that nature were prone to falsehoods and deception and that separation of the true from the false was so costly as to make a broad prohibition necessary. The Court rejected that argument, observing that “the free flow of commercial information is  valuable enough to justify imposing on would‑be regulators the costs of distinguishing the truthful from the false, the helpful from the misleading, and the harmless from the harmful.”  Id. at 646.  We do not have before us, however, a statutory prohibition on harmless as well as harmful advertising.  The ban is on racial messages, and the “would‑be regulators,” namely the plaintiffs, are entirely willing to bear the burden of proving at trial that the advertisements published by the Times indicated a racial preference.  Zauderer, therefore, is of no aid to the Times.

 Third, returning to the model of the obtuse publisher, the Times asserts that the press is ill‑equipped to conduct the monitoring of advertisements that Section 3604(c) requires.  There is, however, no support for the factual premise of this argument.  Given the facial nature of the Times’s challenge to the statute—namely, that the Times need not monitor the use of models in real estate ads at all—we do not address every ambiguous situation that may arise.  Indeed, we need only take notice of the monitoring of messages in advertising that the Times presently undertakes.

The Times thus admits that it presently reviews advertising submissions to avoid publishing ads that do not meet its “Standards of Advertising Acceptability.”  These Standards provide inter alia: 

The Times will not accept: 1. Generally —Advertisements which contains [sic] fraudulent, deceptive, or misleading statements or illustrations. —Attacks of a personal character. —Advertisements that are overly competitive or that refer abusively to the goods or services of others. 2. Investments Advertisements which do not comply with applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations. 3. Occult Pursuits Advertisements for fortune telling, dream interpretations and individual horoscopes. 4. Foreign Languages .... 

5. Discrimination —Advertisements which fail to comply with the express requirements of federal and state laws against discrimination, including Title VII and the Fair Housing Act, or which otherwise discriminate on grounds of race, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status or disability. 6. Offensive to Good Taste Indecent, vulgar, suggestive or other advertising that, in the opinion of The Times, may be offensive to good taste. This list is not intended to include all the types of advertisements unacceptable to The Times.  Generally speaking, any other advertising that may cause financial loss to the reader, or injury to his health, or loss of his confidence in reputable advertising and ethical business practices is unacceptable. 

Given that this extensive monitoring—for purposes that are both numerous and often quite vague—is routinely performed, it strains credulity beyond the breaking point to assert that monitoring ads for racial messages imposes an unconstitutional burden.

Moreover, the Times’s argument is a policy argument that, if accepted, would undermine other civil rights laws.  For example, the Times is prohibited by Title VII from discriminating on the basis of race in employment. It thus must monitor those of its employees with the power to hire and fire.  Given the intangible and unquantifiable factors that legitimately may be taken into account in employment decisions, Section 3604(c) seems to us to impose a lesser burden of compliance than Title VII.

 We do view one of the Times’s arguments with a degree of sympathy, although it does not affect the outcome.  The individual plaintiffs seek compensatory and punitive damages for emotional injury resulting from the ads in question, and the Times is fearful that such claims from a multitude of plaintiffs might lead to a large number of staggering, perhaps crushing, damage awards that might over time impair the press’s role in society.  The problem is that a claimant may establish a prima facie case for such damages simply by oral testimony that he or she is a newspaper reader of a race different from the models used and was substantially insulted and distressed by a certain ad.  The potential for large numbers of truly baseless claims for emotional injury thus exists, and there appears to be no ready device, other than wholly speculative judgments as to credibility, to separate the genuine from the baseless.  However, we do not regard this possibility as a reason to immunize publishers from any liability under Section 3604(c), including injunctive relief.  Rather, it is reason to assert judicial control over the size of damage awards for emotional injury in individual cases.  Where the claim of an illegal racial preference is based solely upon the use of models and not upon more directly offensive racial messages, we are confident that courts will be able to keep such awards within reason.  Accordingly, the judgment of the district court is affirmed.

SAUNDERS v. GENERAL SERVICES CORP.

659 F.Supp. 1042 (E.D. Vir. 1987)

MERHIGE, District Judge.  Renee Saunders, a black female who resides in Richmond, Virginia, is an individual plaintiff in the instant action.  Plaintiff Housing Opportunities Made Equal (“HOME”) is a non-profit corporation....  Its purposes are to further the goals of the Fair Housing Act and to promote equal housing opportunities in the Richmond area.   Defendant General Services Corporation (“GSC”) ... operates and manages fourteen apartment complexes in the Richmond area. Defendant Jonathan Perel, a white male, is President of GSC.... [P]laintiffs claim that certain of defendants’ advertising practices violate the Fair Housing Act ... and the Civil Rights Act of 1866....

Facts. ... In 1981, HOME, along with several individual complainants, including two former GSC employees, filed administrative complaints with the Virginia Real Estate Commission (“VREC”) and the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”).  They alleged that GSC, through its supervisory employees, had committed various acts of housing discrimination aimed at discouraging or preventing blacks from renting housing in GSC apartment complexes.  Many of such allegations focused on the conduct of a GSC Property Manager, John Hunt.

  
[The two GSC employees in question,] Lynn Graybill and Jean Mann, testified [in this proceeding] that Hunt instructed them on various occasions to treat black tenants and prospective tenants less favorably than whites, including discouraging GSC-sponsored social activities that might attract black tenants and “turning off the charm” to prospective black tenants.  Mann also testified that defendant Perel was present at meetings at which Hunt recommended such action and did not express any disagreement. Further, she informed Perel of her concerns about Hunt’s discriminatory actions after she was terminated by GSC, but he took no action once Hunt disclaimed her allegations.

After VREC conducted its investigation and issued reasonable cause determinations as to Graybill’s and Mann’s complaints, Dr. Barbara Wurtzel, HOME’s Executive Director ... and the Assistant Director, Linda Harms, made the decision to attempt conciliation of its complaints with GSC.  The evidence establishes that HOME considered negotiation of affirmative advertising provisions, in conformity with HUD regulations, to constitute a crucial element of its conciliation agreement with GSC, as with all such cases.  As such, a standard provision in all of its proposed agreements required that all advertising and other printed materials contain an equal housing opportunity slogan or logo within thirty days of the effective date of the conciliation agreement.  Such provision was proposed by HOME to GSC as part of its proposed agreement submitted to GSC’s attorneys on August 30, 1982.

In reaction to HOME’s proposal, GSC’s attorney submitted a letter to HOME’s attorney dated October 12, 1982, which outlined its concerns with the proposed agreement in order to facilitate the parties’ next negotiating meeting. Concerning the affirmative advertising provisions, the letter represented that:

GSC will undertake some affirmative action in advertising so long as the agreement recognizes economic reality.  Although classified newspaper advertising is relatively easy to change, advertising that involves layout by professional advertisers can only be changed at considerable expense.  In addition, advertising other than through newspapers is printed in bulk and used over a period of time.  Any changes in such advertising could not be adopted until the current store of materials has been distributed.

  
Both Linda Harms and Dr. Wurtzel testified that they were concerned by GSC’s reaction to the 30-day provision because the affirmative advertising provisions were a major component of the agreement and a 30-day limit was customary in such agreements.  Based on this concern, both Harms and Wurtzel recalled asking defendants’ counsel in a negotiating session the extent of GSC’s “current store of materials” because they believed allowing depletion of the current supply would be acceptable only so long as such supply was not extensive and compliance would be achieved in a reasonably short time.  Both witnesses remember counsel representing to them that the supply was not large and would be depleted in a matter of months, and less than a year.  Wurtzel’s testimony, to which the Court gives credence, is somewhat more exact, with her recollection that such representation occurred in approximately March 1983 and was that GSC had approximately a two-month supply.  While counsel’s representation may have been premised on an honest belief at the time, subsequent conduct of the defendants supports the Court’s conclusion that they acted in an unlawful manner.  Ms. Harms further testified that Marianne Phillips, GSC Operations Manager …, confirmed that GSC’s supply was not extensive.

Both Harms and Wurtzel testified that such representation was crucial to their acceptance of GSC’s modification to the agreement, providing that a slogan or logo would be included in GSC’s advertising materials, other than newspapers, “when those materials are reprinted.”

The only rebuttal evidence offered by defendants concerning such representation was Marianne Phillips’ statement that she didn’t recall whether she had represented that GSC’s current supply was small.

While the agreement was finally executed between July 13 and 18, 1983, the testimony indicates that, as one would expect in contract negotiations, individual provisions within the agreement were agreed upon at various points in late 1982 to mid-1983.  Both Harms and Wurtzel testified that agreement on the affirmative advertising provisions was reached early in the negotiating process.  Dr. Wurtzel testified that such agreement was reached in approximately March 1983, and that after that date, the remaining negotiations focused on confidentiality and content of the news release.  Her recollection is reinforced by her negotiating notes of March 2 and 9, 1983.  While defendants argue generally that there was no legal agreement at all until the final agreement was signed in July 1983, they offer no evidence contradicting plaintiff’s evidence that the advertising provisions had been agreed upon by the parties by March 1983.

  
HOME’s attorney sent copies of the final conciliation agreement agreed to by HOME and GSC to VREC and HUD on June 20, 1983.  This agreement was executed by VREC, HOME, the individual complainants, GSC, Perel, Hunt, and Betsy King, GSC’s marketing director, between July 13 and 18, 1983, and became effective on July 18, 1983.  It included affirmative advertising provisions by which GSC agreed to include an EHO slogan or logo in all future newspaper advertising and “in other future printed advertising materials when those materials are reprinted.”  Such affirmative advertising provisions were to remain in effect for two years.  As part of the agreement, HOME released GSC and Perel from all claims which it had ever had against them up until the date of the agreement, including claims for violations of the Fair Housing Act and … §§1981-82.

HOME subsequently discovered … that GSC had ordered 134,000 copies of its Lifestyle brochure without any EHO logo or slogan on approximately June 15, 1983–just days before signing the conciliation agreement.  Such order went to press beginning on June 19, 1983, and was completed by July 23, 1983.  ...  Marianne Phillips testified that on June 1983 she ordered 134,000 copies of Lifestyle, which she believed would last for approximately one year.  In fact, such supply lasted far past the term of the conciliation agreement because … GSC decided not to proceed with a planned mass mailing in April 1984.  According to Phillips’ testimony, the large order was placed due to the cheaper unit cost, although she had testified at her deposition that she had no recollection of why such a large order was placed.  At no time during this process did anyone from GSC notify HOME of its planned order nor did it revise the brochure at that time to include an EHO logo, although other revisions were made. ... [R]evising the brochure to include an EHO logo would have cost approximately $200 to $500.

After execution of the 1983 Conciliation Agreement, GSC began to take steps to comply with its provisions.  It developed a fair housing policy statement and distributed it to all employees.  It implemented an employee training program in 1983, although unfortunately Betsy King, GSC’s Marketing Director with significant advertising responsibilities, had not yet participated in the program as of the date of trial.  

Most significant to the instant suit, GSC began implementation of the agreement’s advertising provisions.  According to Marianne Phillips’ testimony, which the Court credits on this issue, GSC attempted to comply with the basic advertising requirements, although errors were made.  Concerning newspaper advertisements, the agreement required such ads to include an EHO slogan or logo by September 1, 1983, unless modifications required the services of a design or advertising agency.  Yet it wasn’t until late September 1983 that Marianne Phillips discovered that such changes had not been made and advised her staff to make such changes “as soon as is possible.”

While, from the evidence presented, the Court finds that GSC generally complied with the agreement’s requirements concerning newspaper advertisements, it also finds that GSC exhibited a reluctance to comply, a desire to do only the bare minimum required, and an attempt to advertise its EHO policy as inconspicuously as possible.  See, e.g., [various trial exhibits] (admonishing staff to “make sure” that EHO logo is “not the only thing on the line;” questioning whether to use EHO logo in new ad in March 1986 after expiration of ad provisions; ads sent to [28] college newspapers without logo during agreement’s term; memo requesting that logo be added to group of display ads requested on last date possible under agreement; note from GSC staff member to Doug Ziegler [at GSC’s advertising agency], asking him to “add in the [EHO] logo discreetly”).

On July 5, 1985, HOME’s Fair Housing Director wrote to GSC’s attorney concerning two areas of apparent non-compliance with the advertising provisions: (1) failure to include an EHO logo in GSC’s April 1985 flyer known as “GSC Happenings”;  (2) failure of GSC’s 38-page Lifestyle brochure to include an adequate number of black models, thereby impermissibly indicating a preference based on race.  In response, GSC’s attorney agreed to include an EHO logo or slogan on future “Happenings” fliers, but stated that GSC “should not have to undertake the considerable cost of redoing [Lifestyle].”  In a later telephone conversation, Marianne Phillips did agree to include an EHO slogan or logo in an insert being planned for inclusion in Lifestyle, but stated that GSC would not agree to reprint the brochure itself until the current supply was depleted, which she estimated would take one year.  Because HOME considered GSC’s response unsatisfactory, it filed a complaint with HUD and VREC on September 9, 1985, and filed the instant action on April 15, 1986.

Beginning sometime in October 1985, GSC did begin to discuss revisions to Lifestyle, including the use of more black models.  (Betsy King’s notes concerning meetings on revisions).  Notes from these meetings reflect considerable discussion concerning the addition of black models to the brochure;  however, again GSC’s attitude appeared to be one of reluctance and interest in including blacks as little as possible.  For example, Betsy King’s notes of the initial meeting held on October 3, 1985, discuss staging “a mock cocktail party that would include ‘Marianne’s cousins.’ “  In her deposition, King explained that such term was used as an acronym to refer to blacks.  Notes of another conversation with Jon Perel advise that “every prop[erty] has to have 5 people plus 1 minority.”  A questionnaire circulated by GSC asked the question “Best places for blacks?” and responses included “one or two blk. children” and “groups.”

Finally, in a memorandum from Doug Ziegler to Marianne Phillips, John Hunt, and Betsy King discussing specific areas in which revisions would be made, Ziegler wrote the following:  “Swimming: Strong need for this throughout.  Should we use blacks in this arena?”

In a meeting held on November 12, 1985, Marianne Phillips’ handwritten notes on this memorandum drew a line leading from the question “Should we use blacks in this arena?” to the answer “yes. (not in water per JH.).”  While John Hunt, Marianne Phillips and Doug Ziegler all denied that this note referred to an instruction by John Hunt not to photograph blacks in the swimming pool, this Court gives no credence to the explanations tendered.  Phillips suggests that her note is not a response to the question “Should we use blacks in this arena,” even though she drew a line from that question to the answer.  Instead, she states that Hunt merely instructed Ziegler that no one should be photographed in the water because GSC complex logos recently had been printed on the pool bottoms, and he didn’t want models to block those logos in the photographs.

  
Such an explanation lacks reason and is dispelled by the evidence.  In fact, there are more pictures containing models in the water in the revised brochure than in the original brochure.  While early in the trial, the defendants were eager to point out that there is a picture of a black couple on page 8 of the revised brochure, on cross-examination of a defendant’s witness, it was revealed that such picture was only added to the brochure at the last minute–within three weeks prior to trial.  While an advertising executive indicated that the picture of black models was added because of a last-minute need, and not to counter the effect of an October memo in the instant lawsuit, such explanation is contradicted by the whole evidence.  A comparison of the “Blue Line” and final versions of revised Lifestyle demonstrates that the picture of blacks in the pool of page 8 was merely substituted for a picture of whites in the pool, which was then moved to page 30.  The only pictures removed from the final version were a picture of a black couple sitting by the pool and a picture of two joggers, for which a stock photo of a white couple in the pool was substituted on page 13.  

Plaintiffs allege ... that defendants violated the Fair Housing Act by indicating a racial preference in their advertising and that defendants violated 42 U.S.C. §§1981-82 by intentionally using discriminatory advertising, infringing upon plaintiffs’ right to contract for rental property. ...

[In Part I, the court held that both HOME and Saunders had standing to raise FHA discriminatory advertising claims.  In Part II, the court found that the defendants had committed fraud by concealing the June 15, 1983 order of 134,000 copies of Lifestyle in order to induce HOME to enter into the conciliation agreement and granted rescission of the agreement and other remedies.  In Part III, in light of that rescission, it declined to reach HOME’s claim that defendants breached the conciliation agreement.]

IV. 
Fair Housing Act Claim

  
A.  Substance of Claim.  ... Plaintiffs argue, in what appears to be a case of first impression, that defendants violated [§3604(c)] in the publication of the Lifestyle brochure.  They contend that the virtual absence of black models from the sixty-eight photographs in that brochure containing human models indicates a preference or an intention to make a preference based on race.

In order to prove a violation of this subsection, plaintiffs need not establish that defendants intended to express a racial preference.  Rather, one court has held that a violation is proven if “[t]o an ordinary reader the natural interpretation of the advertisements published in the [newspaper] is that they indicate a racial preference in the acceptance of tenants.”  Hunter.   ...  In the instant case, then, the Court must determine from the conflicting evidence whether the Lifestyle brochure’s paucity of black models indicates a racial preference to the ordinary reader.

While the Court believes that the evidence is mixed on the instant issue, it finds that plaintiffs have proven their claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Both of plaintiffs’ experts, Dr. Barban and Mr. Franklin, have done considerable academic and market research on the effect of the racial composition of advertising models on the consumer.  Both testified that, in their opinion, the Lifestyle brochure indicated a preference for white tenants and a subtle message that black tenants would be less welcome.  While the Court is not unduly impressed by their research methodology and basis for their opinions, their findings do comport with the average layman’s knowledge of advertising.  It requires no expert to recognize that human models in advertising attempt to create an identification between the model, the consumer, and the product.  In other words, advertisers choose models with whom the targeted consumers will positively identify, hoping to convey the message that people like the depicted models consume and enjoy the advertised product. Therefore, if the consumer wants to emulate the model, he or she will use the product, too.

Thus, it is natural that readers of the Lifestyle brochure would look at the human models depicted as representing the kinds of individuals that live in and enjoy GSC apartment complexes.  If a prospective tenant positively identified with these models, the message conveyed would be that “I belong in these apartments.  ‘My kind of people’ live there.”  Conversely, if the prospective tenant reading the brochure saw no models with whom he or she could identify, the reader would obtain a message that “these apartments are not for me or ‘my kind.’“  Thus, the Court finds that the natural interpretation of the Lifestyle brochure is to indicate that GSC apartment complexes are for white, and not black, tenants, thus discouraging blacks from seeking housing there.

GSC’s own documents demonstrate that it was aware that the models used would affect the types of tenants attracted and that it intended to indicate preferences for certain types of tenants.  For example, in a memo from Jon Perel to Doug Ziegler, Perel suggested various ideas to be used in the advertising brochure for one of GSC’s properties to convey its “institutional/upper income/exclusivity approach.”  Further, when GSC recently decided to revise its Lifestyle brochure, it circulated a questionnaire to management members, asking how the brochure should “treat children, seniors” and where were the “best places for blacks,” indicating again the importance GSC placed on the placement of human models.

Finally, the Court considers a memorandum asking “Should we use blacks in this arena [swimming]?” which contains Phillips’ handwritten note responding “Yes (not in water per J.H.).”  The Court finds absolutely incredible Phillips’ and Hunt’s explanation that this note did not refer to the use of blacks in pool pictures, but merely to a general desire not to photograph human models in the pool.  The totality of the evidence clearly indicates that Hunt was concerned about showing blacks in GSC pools, again demonstrating GSC’s own belief that the race of models used would indicate GSC’s racial preferences.

Plaintiffs also presented the testimony of Renee Saunders and Earl Danzler, both of whom testified that they immediately noticed the absence of blacks in GSC’s advertising and received the message that GSC did not wish to appeal to blacks.  Finally, Mr. Franklin conducted a study which, despite many methodological weaknesses, provides some additional evidence that blacks interpreted Lifestyle to indicate a preference for white tenants.

While defendants’ expert, Dr. Loftus, did raise several valid concerns about the studies and conclusions offered by plaintiffs’ experts, she did not, in the Court’s view, adequately refute plaintiffs’ evidence that Lifestyle indicates a racial preference. ...

C.  Remedies.  Having determined that defendants have violated the Act, the Court now must determine the appropriate relief for such violation.  Plaintiffs ... ask the Court to declare that defendants’ publication of Lifestyle violated the Act, enjoin defendants from any further racial discrimination under the Act, and order defendants to modify their advertising to comply with the law, including blacks in their advertising in numbers proportionate to their percentage in the population of the Richmond metropolitan area.  In the Court’s view, the relief sought is unnecessary and overbroad.

While it is true that a Court may award affirmative injunctive relief in order to remedy past discriminatory advertising practices, such decision rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, based on whether it believes “the vestiges of prior discrimination linger and remain to be eliminated.”  Hunter. As the Court held in Hunter in affirming the district court’s decision to grant declaratory, but not injunctive relief, “in considering whether to grant injunctive relief a court should impose upon a defendant no restriction greater than necessary to protect the plaintiff from the injury of which he complains.”  Thus, the Court should not grant injunctive relief unless “there exists some cognizable danger of recurrent violation.”  

In the instant case, while declaratory relief is appropriate, the Court is not convinced that a cognizable danger exists that defendants will continue to violate their advertising obligations under the Act.  In fact, although perhaps induced by the instant litigation, defendants have subsequently revised Lifestyle to increase the use of black models.  Plaintiffs’ own experts testified that the revised brochure did not indicate a racial preference.  The Court finds that a declaratory judgment, combined with monetary damages, will adequately redress plaintiffs’ injuries and provide assurances that defendants will not engage in future violations.

In addition, the Court finds that plaintiffs are not entitled by law to force defendants to give proportional representation to blacks in their advertising, nor is there any evidence in the record that such representation would be necessarily required to avoid indicating a racial preference. ...

V. 
Section 1981 and 1982 Claims.  Plaintiffs allege that defendants’ discriminatory advertising practices also violate 42 U.S.C. §§1981-82.  The Court deals with these claims jointly because the Supreme Court has held that the reach of these statutes is coextensive.  

Plaintiffs contend that because Lifestyle indicated a preference based on race, black persons were denied an equal right to make a contract for the rental of GSC property under Sections 1981 and 1982. Defendants argue that plaintiffs are not entitled to recover under either section both factually and as a matter of law.  Initially, they assert that, even if defendants’ publication of Lifestyle constituted a form of intentional discrimination, such discrimination is not cognizable under Sections 1981 and 1982.  They further contend that, even if plaintiffs’ allegations do state a cause of action under these statutes, plaintiffs have failed to prove that defendants had the requisite discriminatory intent.

A. 
Scope of Sections 1981 and 1982.  In the first instance, the Court must determine whether the conduct alleged–defendants’ intentional discrimination in publishing advertising that indicates a preference based on race–constitutes a violation of Section 1981 and/or 1982.  Such determination appears to present an issue of first impression, at least among published authority.

  
1. 
Section 1982.  Plaintiffs allege that defendants’ discriminatory advertising practices violate 42 U.S.C. §1982....  They contend that because Lifestyle indicated a preference based on race, black persons were denied an equal right to make a contract for the rental of GSC property.  Defendants assert that §1982 does not encompass such advertising claim, citing dictum in a 1968 Supreme Court decision as authority for their assertion.  See Jones v. Alfred H. Mayer Co., 392 U.S. 409 (1968).   

In Jones, the specific issue before the Court involved whether §1982 applied to private, and not only state, action in the sale or rental of property and, if so, whether such scope was constitutional.  In beginning its examination of the scope of §1982, the Court compared §1982 to the Fair Housing Act.  Unlike the Fair Housing Act, the Court explained, §1982 “is not a comprehensive open housing law.” The Court then noted several differences between the scope of the two statutes, noting as follows:

[Section 1982] does not deal specifically with discrimination in the provision of services or facilities in connection with the sale or rental of a dwelling.  It does not prohibit advertising or other representations that indicate discriminatory preferences.  It does not refer explicitly to discrimination in financing arrangements or in the provision of brokerage services.

In a footnote to the above-quoted language, the Court explained that, although §1982 does not specifically address discrimination in the provision of services or facilities, financing arrangements or brokerage services, the Court “intimates no view” upon whether such discrimination still might be covered under §§1982 and/or 1981. Notably, the Court did not apply such disclaimer to its statement that discriminatory advertising is not prohibited by §1982.  ...

Plaintiffs argue, correctly in the Court’s view, that the Supreme Court’s statements in Jones concerning preferential advertising, an issue not before the Court, do not constitute binding authority on the instant issue.  While we agree that such statements in dictum do not create binding precedent, however, they do provide insight into the Supreme Court’s interpretation of the intended scope of §1982.

As interpreted in Jones, §1982 “must encompass every racially motivated refusal to sell or rent.”  A survey of housing discrimination cases supports the interpretation that §1982 prohibits refusals to sell or rent based on race, and not the mere expression of a preference to sell or rent based on race.  Under the plain language of the statute itself, advertising that indicates a racial preference, while it may discourage blacks from exercising their right to rent certain property, does not deny them the opportunity to rent such property.

Thus, the Court finds no basis for interpreting §1982 to apply to advertising indicating a racial preference.  Certainly, the effect of such advertising can be as discriminatory and devastating as a direct refusal to rent.  Congress presumably recognized this fact, however, in enacting the broader, more detailed prohibitions of the Fair Housing Act.  Having determined that §1982 affords no cause of action for the instant advertising claims, the Court finds no authority to grant a more expansive interpretation of §1981.1  ... .
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
Newspaper Liability 

43.  What statutory arguments do you see about whether §3604(c) creates liability for   newspapers that run discriminatory ads.  What policy arguments support extending liability to newspapers?   What arguments do the newspapers make in Ragin that the application of the statute is too burdensome to them?   What is the court’s response?  Is it convincing?  

44.  An online web service allows people to post classified ads on its website.  The service does not edit the ads at all, but does provide an indexing system to facilitate online searches of the ads.  If one of the posted ads violates §3604(c), should the service be liable as a matter of statutory interpretation?   As a matter of policy?
45.  Look at 24 CFR §100.75(c)(3).  What does this regulation prohibit? Is the  regulation a reasonable interpretation of §3604(c)?  What kinds of situations covered by the regulation seem to fit best with the policies of the statute?  What kinds fit least?
Ordinary Reader Test
46.  Ragin and the Hunter case on which it relies hold that an ad violates §3604(c) if it suggests to an “ordinary reader” a preference or dispreference for a particular protected category.  What intent must the defendant have to violate this test?  Is the test consistent with the statutory language? What type of evidence would you use to prove a violation of this test?  Of what relevance is evidence of the advertiser’s understanding of the meaning of the ad?  

47.  Who is an “ordinary reader”?  How might Ragin’s definition help a judge or jury to apply the test?  Should the “ordinary reader” vary depending on the particular publication in which the ad appears?   Some commentators have suggested that the test should focus on the views of an ordinary reader of the particular category that the ad is alleged to disfavor (e.g., “ordinary African-American reader”).  What evidence might you present to jurors who are not members of the category to help them understand what this type of ordinary reader believes?  What statutory and policy arguments could you make to a court considering adoption of this test?  

48.  What arguments can you make about whether any of the following statements would violate §3604(c) if made as part of housing ads:
a)  “ FOR RENT‑Furnished basement apartment. In private white home.”
b)  “ Divorced white professional female seeks roommate”

c)  “ Spanish speaker preferred”

d)  “ Perfect for Singles or Couple”

e)  “ Walking distance to shopping”

f)  “ Convenient to Knights of Columbus”
Human Models 
49.  Ragin, Saunders, and the other courts that have addressed the issue have all held that use of human models can violate the statute.  Does the statutory language support this interpretation?  Does it make sense as a matter of policy?   All the reported cases that have dealt with human models have addressed alleged preferences based on race or family status.  Should the cases be extended to cover handicap?  What might that entail?

50.  What limitations does Ragin place on the scope of newspaper liability for publication of ads that employ human models in a way that violates the statute?  Are these limitations sufficient to protect the newspapers?  Too great?  

51.  What is the best evidence for the plaintiff that the statute was violated in Saunders?  Of what relevance is the evidence of the advertiser’s intent? What arguments would you have made for the defendants that the statute was not violated?  What arguments would you have made to the court as plaintiff’s attorney about whether an injunction should issue?  About requiring proportional representation in future ads?
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Lawyering Exercise #2: 
Counseling a Client on an Advertisement



For this assignment, you will be providing advice to a client about a housing advertisement. I will provide you with a copy of an advertisement that actually ran in a magazine. Assume that the client has submitted the ad for review by your law firm prior to publishing it in several South Florida and national magazines.  Assume also that the local Fair Housing agency has been actively prosecuting advertising cases. Be prepared to discuss: 
(A) What potential liability problems do you see under §3604(c)?  Identify any protected characteristics that you think might be the basis for a §3604(c) claim against your client.  For each, be prepared to explain why the advertisement might be a problem, pointing out any specific details that might be relevant.

(B) What suggestions would you make to help decrease the client’s exposure?  For each characteristic you identified as a possible source of liability in (A), identify possible specific changes to the advertisement the client might make that would remain consistent with the client’s existing marketing strategy but might reduce the likelihood of a 3604(c) violation.  You might also suggest more general changes that you think might help limit liability.  Keep in mind that the client’s goal is to market housing to relatively wealthy buyers who want a lifestyle that is more urban, more sporting, more prestigious, and more private than a typical suburban house.
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 REVIEW PROBLEMS 4A-4B
4A. You work at the U.S. House of Representatives on the staff of Rep. Constant Waffle, a moderate from central Missouri.  One of his colleagues, Rep. William Hearst Garrison (D-Mass.), wants to clear up some uncertainty regarding the advertising provision of the FHA.  Garrison has proposed the following amendment to be added at the end of the present text of §3604(c) as part of that subsection: 
(1) The selection of human models appearing in a notice or advertisement shall be a relevant consideration, but only for claims that the relevant protected class is race, color, national origin, or familial status.

(2) The particular media or location in which a notice or advertisement is displayed or distributed and the likely audience that results from that also are relevant to determine if it is in violation of this subsection.

(3) It is a defense to an action relying on paragraphs (1) or (2) of this subsection that it is unduly expensive at the present time for the defendant to present more models or advertise in additional media or locations.

Be prepared in class to participate in
(1) a technical critique, meaning 

(a) identification of technical drafting problems with the amendment as written; and  

(b) identification and ex​planation of possible changes to address these problems (if Rep. Waf​fle decides to support the substance of the amendment);
and (2) a substantive assessment of the strengths & weaknesses of each provision of the amendment & the amendment as a whole.
4B.  SEX DISCRIMINATION REVIEW PROBLEM

Based on the facts below, discuss whether Gloria could succeed either of the following claims against Andy and Wesley: 
(1) that their ad indicated a preference based on sex, violating FHA §3604(c); or
(2) that they intentionally denied her housing because of her sex, violating FHA §3604(a).  


Wealthy software engineers Andy Allenson & Wesley Wu built an apartment complex called Techno-Towers in Northern California that they had specifically designed for computer industry professionals. The complex consisted of four towers surrounding a central courtyard.  Each tower contained 20 one-bedroom apartments, 20 two-bedroom apartments, a small gym, laundry facilities, and an entire floor consisting of reading rooms and gaming rooms available to all tenants in the building.   


Wesley, in charge of advertising, decided simply to run a single full page ad repeatedly in several computer and technology magazines.  The headline across the top of the ad said, “Finally, a place for techno-geeks to feel at home.” Underneath the heading were six photographs [described in detail on the next page].  Underneath the photos was the following text:

You know who you are.  You never quite fit in.  Too much time at the screen.  Not enough time on the ball field.  Trouble getting dates.  Beat up in gym class.  Programming (nearly) as interesting as porn. Even now that you’re grown up, your apartment is still just a place to stash your stuff.  Not designed to fit your life.  Nobody designs to fit your life. Until now.  

Check out Techno-Towers.  Prime Silicon Valley location.  State-of-the-art security.  Wireless internet in every apartment, common areas, courtyard.  Huge living/dining rooms with built-in bookshelves, entertainment center wired for cable, two computer workstations.  Common rooms for video gaming on giant screens.  Common rooms for role-play gaming.  Website with tenant chat rooms (general and special interest).  

Leases of one year or more from $2500 a month.

Wheelchair accessible apartments available.

Equal Opportunity Housing.

Layout of Pictures in Techno-Towers Ad: 

P1 = Central courtyard.  Asian-Amer. Male (mid-30s); Anglo Male (late 20s) working on laptops at table, each with open bottle of imported beer.

P2 = Common room. Giant screen TV with video game in progress.  Two males playing game seen from rear in silhouette against screen.

P3 = Furnished interior of apartment. No people.  Built-in bookshelves full (some computer science textbooks and paperback science fiction titles visible). Macintosh computer with elaborate accessories set up on desk.  Large TV.  Papers and books scattered on surfaces.  Chinese food take-out boxes by computer.  Large Star Trek poster on wall to one side.

P4 = Computer & security control room.  No people.  Very space age looking room with lots of monitors with views of the buildings, courtyard and  lobby.  Fancy control panel and lots of computer equipment.

P5 = Common room. Large table covered with fantasy gaming pieces; around table five males (all 20s-30s): short Chicano; light-skinned African-Amer.; skinny blond Anglo; chubby Asian Amer.; and tall Anglo with graying brown hair and beard in role of dungeon master. In background, Asian-Amer. female (early 20s) entering room carrying tray of snack foods.

P6 = Interior room.  Dark-skinned African-Amer. female with big glasses (12-13); Asian-Amer. male with same big glasses (same age) working together at screen of a Macintosh computer. She’s typing; he’s laughing.

Andy, in charge of tenant selection, created an application form he called the “Tech-Noledge-Test” (“TNT”), designed to identify tenants with significant computer experience. The TNT also asked questions that Andy thought were related but less important such as whether the applicants enjoyed games, chat rooms, fantasy novels, and Star Trek. Andy set a minimum acceptable score on the TNT and a minimum acceptable credit rating.  


Wesley’s ad attracted lots of applicants. Andy and Wesley together interviewed every applicant who met both minimums.  They generally preferred the applicants with the highest TNT scores. However, because they were both going to live in the complex, they occasionally rejected someone with a high score who made them uncomfortable during the interview.  In a very short time, all but one of the apartments were rented.  


Gloria Mundy is a marketing executive for IBM.  Although she knows a lot about the products she works with, she is not herself a programmer.  She did not find the Techno-Towers ad very appealing, but she liked the location and some of the features, so she applied anyway.  She had the highest possible credit rating and got just over the minimum acceptable score on the TNT.  At the time Andy and Wesley interviewed her for the last remaining apartment, they had no other applicants left who met the minimum criteria.


The interview did not go particularly well.  Gloria was late because a bus broke down, blocking traffic on the freeway.  Wesley kept staring at her, which made her uncomfortable. Andy was irritated that she liked Deep Space Nine better than The Next Generation.  Wesley, who, like many in the industry, prefers Macintosh computers, was astonished that she had never owned one and had no interest in getting one.   


After she left, Wesley said, “She’s a babe.  Way too hot, man.  Don’t want her here. Too distracting.”


Andy, who was gay, laughed, and said, “I wouldn’t say the same thing if she were a guy.”


“Don’t want hot guys here either,” Wesley replied. “Too much competition.  Anyway, let’s wait a couple days. See if  anyone else applies.”


Three days later, they interviewed and accepted a male software engineer who had a much higher TNT score than Gloria and used a Macintosh.  Wesley told Gloria they had chosen the other applicant because of the TNT score and the Macintosh, but that they would keep her application on file.
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B. Disparate Impact Claims 
1. Government Defendants

HUNTINGTON BRANCH, NAACP  v. TOWN OF HUNTINGTON
844 F.2d 926 (2d Cir. 1988)

IRVING R. KAUFMAN, Circuit Judge:  Twenty years ago, widespread racial segregation threatened to rip civil society asunder.  In response, Congress adopted broad remedial provisions to promote integration.  One such statute, [the] Fair Housing Act, was enacted “to provide, within constitutional limitations, for fair housing throughout the United States.” Today, we are called upon to decide whether an overwhelmingly white suburb’s zoning regulation, which restricts private multi‑family housing projects to a largely minority “urban renewal area,” and the Town Board’s refusal to amend that ordinance to allow construction of subsidized housing in a white neighborhood violates the Fair Housing Act.

The Huntington Branch of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), Housing Help, Inc. (HHI), and two black, low‑income residents of Huntington appeal from an adverse judgment of the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York (Glasser, J.), following a bench trial, in their suit against the Town of Huntington (the Town) and members of its Town Board.  Appellants allege that the Town violated Title VIII by restricting private construction of multi‑family housing to a narrow urban renewal area and by refusing to rezone the parcel outside this area where appellants wished to build multi‑family housing. Specifically, appellants sought to construct an integrated, multi‑family subsidized apartment complex in Greenlawn/East Northport, a virtually all‑white neighborhood.  The Town’s zoning ordinance, however, prohibited private construction of multi‑ family housing outside a small urban renewal zone in the Huntington Station neighborhood, which is 52% minority.  Thus, appellants petitioned the Town to revise its code to accommodate the project.  When the Town refused, appellants brought this class‑action2 to compel the change under Title VIII. ...

In the case currently appealed, the district court refused to invalidate the zoning restriction.  The district judge, however, incorrectly employed an intent‑based standard for the disparate impact claim asserted here both in analyzing the showing of effect and in scrutinizing the validity of the Town’s reasons for rejection.  Accordingly, we reverse and, finding a Title VIII violation, grant appellants’ request for site‑specific relief. ... 

Huntington is a town of approximately 200,000 people located in the northwest corner of Suffolk County, New York.  In 1980, 95% of its residents were white. Blacks comprised only 3.35% of the Town’s population and were concentrated in areas known as Huntington Station and South Greenlawn.  Specifically, 43% of the total black population lived in four census tracts in Huntington Station and 27% in two census tracts in the South Greenlawn area.  Outside these two neighborhoods, the Town’s population was overwhelmingly white.  Of the 48 census tracts in the Town in 1980, 30 contained black populations of less than 1%.

The district court found that the Town has a shortage of affordable rental housing for low and moderate‑income households.  The Town’s Housing Assistance Plan (HAP), which is adopted by the Town Board and filed with HUD as part of Huntington’s application for federal community development funds, reveals that the impact of this shortage is three times greater on blacks than on the overall population.  Under the 1982‑1985 HAP, for example, 7% of all Huntington families required subsidized housing, while 24% of black families needed such housing.

In addition, a disproportionately large percentage of families in existing subsidized projects are minority.  In Gateway Gardens, a public housing project built in 1967, 38 of 40 units were occupied by blacks and Hispanics in 1984. Seventy‑four percent of those on the project’s waiting list were minority.  In Whitman Village, a 260‑unit HUD subsidized development built in 1971, 56% of the families were minority in 1984.  Lincoln Manor, which was built in 1980, is a 30‑unit HUD Section 8 project.  Thirty percent of the households and 45% of those on the waiting list were minority in 1984.  Under a HUD Section 8 program, lower income families can obtain certificates to supplement their rent.  Each family, however, must locate its own apartment.  In January 1984, 68% of families holding certificates and 61% of those on the waiting list were minority.

Although a disproportionate number of minorities need low‑cost housing, the Town has attempted to limit minority occupancy in subsidized housing projects. Michael Miness, the Director of Huntington’s Community Development agency and responsible for developing the Town’s low‑cost housing, and Angela Sutton, Executive Director of the Huntington Housing Authority, repeatedly told whites opposing the Lincoln Manor project that they would impose a racial quota on occupancy.  When HUD reviewed the project’s management plan which established 5% minority occupancy, however, it advised the Huntington Housing Authority that it would not permit a racial quota at Lincoln Manor.  The Town similarly attempted to impose racial quotas on occupancy at a proposed 150‑unit subsidized housing project in Huntington Station on the Melville Industrial Associates (MIA) site.  When Alan H. Wiener, HUD’s Area Director, wrote Kenneth C. Butterfield, Town Supervisor, that “limitations on minority occupancy of housing on the Huntington Station site are not justifiable and will not be permitted,”, the Town Board unanimously passed a resolution withdrawing its support for the project because they could not “ensure a particular ethnic mix.” 

Under the Town’s zoning ordinance, multi‑family housing is permitted only in an “R‑3M Apartment District.”  The relevant portion of section 198‑20(A) provides: 

Use regulations.  In the R‑3M Apartment District, a building or premises shall be used only for the following purposes: (1) Any use permitted in the R‑80, R‑15 and R‑5 Residence Districts. (2) Multiple‑family dwellings which constitute an approved public housing project to be owned, maintained and operated by the Housing Authority of the Town of Huntington. (3) Multiple‑family dwellings where such dwellings constitute an element in a formally approved land use or a use plan for all or part of an urban renewal area which has been designated as such under the provisions of Article 15 of the General Municipal Law. 

On its face, then, this provision limits private construction of multi‑ family housing to the Town’s urban renewal area, where 52% of the residents are minority. It does permit the Huntington Housing Authority (HHA) to build multi‑family housing townwide.  But HHA’s only project, Gateway Gardens, is in the urban renewal zone.  The private housing projects are also in or nearby the urban renewal area.  Whitman Village is adjacent to Gateway Gardens in census blocks that are over 40% minority.  Lincoln Manor, only a few blocks from the projects in the urban renewal area, is also in a racially impacted census block.

The Town’s zoning ordinance also includes a special category for multi‑family housing for senior citizens called “R‑RM Retirement Community District.”  Only one such development‑‑Paumanack Village‑‑has been built in Huntington.  It is the only multi‑family housing for low income people which is situated in an overwhelmingly white neighborhood.  The development itself is largely white, having a black occupancy of 3%.

Only one vacant parcel of land in Huntington currently is zoned R‑3M and thus would be eligible for the appellants’ proposed development:  the MIA site, which is at the northeast corner of Broadway and New York Avenue, is partially zoned C‑6 and partially zoned R‑3M.  The Town in 1980 requested pre‑approval for 150 units of Section 8 housing on this site.5
In response to the great need for subsidized housing in the Town, HHI decided to sponsor an integrated housing project for low‑income families.  HHI determined that the project could foster racial integration only if it were located in a white neighborhood outside the Huntington Station and South Greenlawn areas.  This decision eliminated consideration of the MIA site, the only vacant R‑3M property … in the urban renewal area.

In its effort to create racially integrated, low‑cost housing, HHI actively sought the assistance of Town officials.  Specifically, HHI’s Executive Director, Marianne Garvin, and HHI Board members met repeatedly with Michael Miness.  In response to Miness’s suggestion that HHI pursue rehabilitating existing structures before focusing on new construction, HHI commissioned a study in 1979 to assess whether any of the vacant schools were suitable for the housing project.  After narrowing the possibilities to the Green Meadow School, HHI determined that this location was inappropriate for a low‑cost housing development.  Throughout 1979, Miness assured HHI representatives that existing zoning should not impede their efforts because the Town Board would amend the zoning ordinance if it supported the organization’s project.

After a lengthy search, HHI determined that a 14.8 acre parcel located at the corner of Elwood and Pulaski Roads in the Town was well suited for a 162‑unit housing project.  This flat, largely cleared and well‑drained property was near public transportation, shopping and other services, and immediately adjacent to schools.  Ninety‑eight percent of the population within a one‑mile radius of the site is white.  HHI set a goal of 25% minority occupants.  The district court found that “a significant percentage of the tenants [at Matinecock Court] would have belonged to minority groups.” HHI officials determined that the property was economically feasible and offered a lengthy option period.

Prior to purchasing the option for the property, Garvin asked Miness to visit the property and evaluate it.  Garvin testified that, although Miness told Garvin he would not give an opinion before HHI secured an option, he assured her that the property’s R‑40 designation (single family homes on one‑acre lots) should not be an obstacle because the Town Board, if it supported the project, would simply amend the zoning ordinance.  HHI obtained its option to purchase the Elwood‑Pulaski parcel on January 23, 1980.  Garvin again called Miness and invited him to visit the site.  She testified that he responded that he was familiar with the property and believed it was a good location for development.

Throughout 1980, HHI sought to advance its project by gaining the approval of the Town Board to rezone the property to R‑3M from its R‑40 designation.  . . .   Robert Ralph, a director of HHI, addressed the Town Board on February 26, 1980, at a public hearing.  The district court found that he filed a document requesting “a commitment by the Town to amend the zoning ordinance to allow multi‑family rental construction by a private developer.”  In August 1980, HHI and National Housing Partnership, an owner‑manager of federally subsidized housing, filed a joint application with HUD for Section 8 funding for the project.

At the time HHI applied for the Section 8 funding, Huntington had a Housing Assistance Plan, which had been approved by HUD.  Pursuant to the provisions of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, 42 U.S.C. §§ 5301‑20, when a town has such a plan, HUD must refer a Section 8 application to the Town for comment.  In an October 14, 1980, letter to Alan H. Weiner, HUD Area Manager, Town Supervisor Kenneth C. Butterfield set forth seven reasons why Huntington opposed the project.  It reads, in pertinent part, as follows: 

The Town’s professional staff in the Planning, Legal and Community Development Departments have reviewed the proposal and have submitted the following comments: 

1. The HUD‑approved Housing Assistance Plan (both the three‑year goal submitted with the Community Development Block Grant 1979‑80 application and the annual goal submitted with the 1980‑1981 Community Development Block Grant) contains no “new construction” units as a program goal. 

2. The plan for development cannot be carried out within the existing single family R‑40 (1 acre) zoning. 

3. The development is located at the intersection of two heavily trafficked streets. 

4. The site plan presents a poor parking plan in terms of location with respect to the units, substandard in size and the lack of streets results in very poor fire protection access. 

5. The development is located adjacent to both the Long Island Railroad as well as a LILCO substation.  This is in addition to the heavy traffic conditions. 

6. The site plan shows recreation and/or play areas very inadequate for the number and type of dwelling units being proposed. 

7. The three and four‑bedroom units are quite undersized;  have poor layout; bedrooms are much too small;  living space is unrealistic;  no storage;  one full and two half‑baths for a family of 6 to 8 is not realistic. In conclusion, I do not recommend HUD approval of this proposal based on the material reviewed and the comments presented above.

When the proposal became public, substantial community opposition developed. A group called the Concerned Citizens Association was formed, and a petition containing 4,100 signatures against the proposal was submitted to the Town Board.  A protest meeting in November drew about 2,000 persons.  Supervisor Butterfield was the principal speaker and assured the audience of his opposition to the project.  Matinecock Court came before the Town Board at a meeting on January 6, 1981.  The Board rejected the proposed zoning change and adopted the following resolution: 

WHEREAS, it has been proposed by HOUSING HELP, INC., a private non‑profit group, that Huntington’s zoning code be changed in order to build 162 federally‑subsidized apartments for low to moderate income people at Elwood and Pulaski Roads in the Elwood section of the Town of Huntington;  and WHEREAS, the Town Board has studied the various aspects of the proposal for a zoning change for 162 apartments at the said location of Elwood and Pulaski Roads; NOW, THEREFORE, THE TOWN BOARD finds that although favoring housing for the senior citizens and others, in appropriate areas, that the location referred to herein is not an appropriate location due to lack of transportation, traffic hazard and disruption of the existing residential patterns in the Elwood area and requests that the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) reject the application by HOUSING HELP, INC.

The district court based its refusal to order rezoning on three alternative grounds:  (1) appellants never formally applied for rezoning;  (2) even if they had applied, they failed to make the requisite prima facie showing of discriminatory effect;  and (3) even if they had demonstrated discriminatory effect, the city had rebutted it by articulating legitimate, non‑pretextual justifications.  We now consider each ground separately.  [The court held that the town had treated HHI’s proposal as an application, and so the first ground for denial was improper.]

 In its second holding, the court adopted the four‑prong disparate impact test set out in Metropolitan Housing Dev. Corp. v. Village of Arlington Heights, 558 F.2d 1283, 1287‑90 (7th Cir.1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1025 (1978) (Arlington Heights II ), and concluded that, even if appellants applied for a rezoning change, they had failed to make out a prima facie case.  The court considered: 

(1) how strong is the plaintiff’s showing of discriminatory effect;  (2) is there some evidence of discriminatory intent, though not enough to satisfy the constitutional standard of Washington v. Davis [, 426 U.S. 229 (1976)];  (3) what is the defendant’s interest in taking the action complained of;  and (4) does the plaintiff seek to compel the defendant to affirmatively provide housing for members of minority groups or merely to restrain the defendant from interfering with individual property owners who wish to provide such housing. 

 
On the first prong, the court found that the showing of discriminatory effect was “not particularly strong.”  Although the judge held that a shortage of rental housing existed, that a disproportionately large percentage of the households using subsidized rental units are minority, and, accordingly, that a “significant percentage” of Matinecock Court tenants would be minority, he compared the larger absolute number of white poor (22,160) with minority poor (3,671) and concluded that the beneficiaries “might not come disproportionately from minority groups.”  Huntington.  

On the second factor, Judge Glasser found no proof of segregative intent, deeming this a plus in the Town’s favor.  In so holding, he determined that appellants had failed to prove that the Town was motivated by segregative intent when it confined subsidized housing to the urban renewal area.  The third prong of Arlington Heights II, he concluded, was satisfied by “legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for [the Town’s] conduct.”  He deemed the fourth factor to cut in favor of appellants because they were not asking the Town to provide housing. Nevertheless, because the first three factors weighed in favor of appellees, he held that the appellants had failed to demonstrate a prima facie case.

In its third rationale, the court applied the test set forth in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), as a final determination on the merits for Title VII disparate treatment cases.  According to this formula, if plaintiffs establish a prima facie case of disparate treatment, the “burden shifts to the defendant to articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the employee’s rejection.”  McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802.  If defendants meet this burden, plaintiffs must show that the legitimate justifications offered were pretextual and not the employer’s true reasons. McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 804.  Applying this test, the court below found that, even if appellants had demonstrated a prima facie showing of discriminatory effect, the Town’s justifications for rejecting the project were legitimate and non‑discriminatory reasons which “have not been exposed as pretextual.”

We find it convenient to discuss Judge Glasser’s second and third holdings together.  In considering them, we start by pointing out that this case requires what has been called “disparate impact” or “disparate effects” analysis, not “disparate treatment” analysis.  A disparate impact analysis examines a facially‑neutral policy or practice, such as a hiring test or zoning law, for its differential impact or effect on a particular group.  Sobel v. Yeshiva Univ., 839 F.2d 18, 28 (2d Cir.1988).  Disparate treatment analysis, on the other hand, involves differential treatment of similarly situated persons or groups.  The line is not always a bright one, e.g., Sobel, 839 F.2d at 28‑29, but does adequately delineate two very different kinds of discrimination claims.

Here, appellees would collapse the distinction between disparate impact and disparate treatment by characterizing this as a “mixed” impact and treatment case.  Thus, they argue, “treatment” analysis should be applied to the Town’s refusal to rezone the Matinecock Court site, while “impact” analysis should be applied to the zoning ordinance’s restriction of multi‑family housing to the urban renewal area.  Under appellees’ methodology, however, every disparate impact case would include a disparate treatment component.  This cannot be the case.  There is always some discrete event (refusal to rezone property, refusal to hire someone because he did not graduate from high school) which touches off litigation challenging a neutral rule or policy....

Under disparate impact analysis, as other circuits have recognized, a prima facie case is established by showing that the challenged practice of the defendant “actually or predictably results in racial discrimination;  in other words that it has a discriminatory effect.”  United States v. City of Black Jack, 508 F.2d 1179, 1184‑85 (8th Cir.1974), cert. denied, 422 U.S. 1042 (1975).  The plaintiff need not show that the decision complained of was made with discriminatory intent. Refusal to require intent in disparate impact cases is entirely consistent with our prior decisions.  In determining whether discriminatory effect is sufficient, we look to congressional purpose, as gleaned from the legislative history of Title VIII, related Title VII jurisprudence, and practical concerns.  Although none of these considerations is alone determinative, taken together they strongly suggest that discriminatory impact alone violates Title VIII.

The Act’s stated purpose to end discrimination requires a discriminatory effect standard;  an intent requirement would strip the statute of all impact on de facto segregation. Congress appears not to have resolved this precise question.  Nonetheless, the legislative history provides some indication that an intent standard was not contemplated.  The Rizzo court attached significance to the Senate’s rejection of an amendment that would have required “proof of discriminatory intent to succeed in establishing a Title VIII claim.” Resident Advisory Board v. Rizzo, 564 F.2d 126, 147 (3d Cir.1977), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 908 (1978).  The amendment, however, was far less sweeping than Rizzo suggests because it applied only to a single‑family owner‑occupied house.  Nevertheless, its rejection does underscore congressional willingness to broaden Title VIII to encompass segregation resulting from the application of facially neutral rules, even in the absence of discriminatory intent.

More persuasive is the parallel between Title VII and Title VIII noted by both courts and commentators.   The two statutes are part of a coordinated scheme of federal civil rights laws enacted to end discrimination;  the Supreme Court has held that both statutes must be construed expansively to implement that goal.  Courts and commentators have observed that the two statutes require similar proof to establish a violation.   Thus, just as the Supreme Court held that Title VII is violated by a showing of discriminatory effect, we hold that a Title VIII violation can be established without proof of discriminatory intent.

Practical concerns also militate against inclusion of intent in any disparate impact analysis.  First, as this court noted in Robinson [v. 12 Lofts Realty], “clever men may easily conceal their motivations.”  610 F.2d at 1043 [(2d Cir.1979)]quoting Black Jack, 508 F.2d at 1185.  This is especially persuasive in disparate impact cases where a facially neutral rule is being challenged.  Often, such rules bear no relation to discrimination upon passage, but develop into powerful discriminatory mechanisms when applied.  Second, inclusion of intent undermines the trial judge’s inquiry into the impact of an action.  The lower court’s insistence on probing the “pretextual” nature of appellees’ justifications vividly demonstrates the extent to which an intent‑based standard can infect an analysis and draw it away from its proper focus.  Accordingly, we will not require proof of discriminatory intent to establish a prima facie disparate impact case under Title VIII.

Confusion concerning the content of a prima facie disparate impact case under Title VIII has been engendered by the tendency of some courts to consider factors normally advanced as part of a defendant’s justification for its challenged action in assessing whether the plaintiff has established a prima facie case.  That appears to have occurred in this case when Judge Glasser analyzed the factors set forth in Arlington Heights II in the course of concluding that a prima facie case was not established.  Though, as will shortly appear, we are not persuaded to adopt precisely the formulation of the Arlington Heights II factors, we agree with the Third Circuit that factors such as those mentioned in Arlington Heights II are to be considered in a final determination on the merits rather than as a requirement for a prima facie case.  See Rizzo, 564 F.2d at 148 n.32. Nothing in Arlington Heights II indicates the court saw its test as anything but a final determination on the merits.  Furthermore, treating the four factors as steps necessary to make out a prima facie case places too onerous a burden on appellants.  The legislative history of the Fair Housing Act, although sparse, argues persuasively against so daunting a prima facie standard.

As Senator Mondale, the bill’s author, said, the proposed law was designed to replace the ghettos “by truly integrated and balanced living patterns.”  114 Cong.Rec. 3422 (1968) quoted in Trafficante.  In Trafficante, the Supreme Court held that Title VIII should be broadly interpreted to fulfill this congressional mandate. Moreover, both the majority and the thoughtful dissent in a recent Title VIII case in this circuit, Starrett City, agree:  Congress intended that broad application of the anti‑ discrimination provisions would ultimately result in residential integration. Employing the test in Arlington Heights II as a prima facie hurdle would cripple Title VIII.

Once a prima facie case of adverse impact is presented, as occurred here, the inquiry turns to the standard to be applied in determining whether the defendant can nonetheless avoid liability under Title VIII.  The Third Circuit in Rizzo and the Seventh Circuit in Arlington Heights II have both made useful contributions to this inquiry.  Both circuits essentially recognize that in the end there must be a weighing of the adverse impact against the defendant’s justification.  As phrased by the Third Circuit, the defendant must prove that its actions furthered, in theory and in practice, a legitimate, bona fide governmental interest and that no alternative would serve that interest with less discriminatory effect.  Rizzo, 564 F.2d at 148‑49. We agree with that formulation.  Furthermore, according to the Third Circuit, “Title VIII criteria [would] emerge, then, on a case‑by‑case basis.”  564 F.2d at 149.  The Seventh Circuit adds two other factors that can affect the ultimate determination on the merits.  One factor is whether there is any evidence of discriminatory intent on the part of the defendant.  Though we have ruled that such intent is not a requirement of the plaintiff’s prima facie case, there can be little doubt that if evidence of such intent is presented, that evidence would weigh heavily on the plaintiff’s side of the ultimate balance.  The other factor is whether the plaintiff is suing to compel a governmental defendant to build housing or only to require a governmental defendant to eliminate some obstacle to housing that the plaintiff itself will build.  In the latter circumstance, a defendant would normally have to establish a somewhat more substantial justification for its adverse action than would be required if the defendant were defending its decision not to build.

In this case, we are obliged to refine the standard for assessing a Title VIII defendant’s justification somewhat beyond what was said in either Rizzo or Arlington Heights II.  In Rizzo, two of the defendants offered no justification for the adverse decision, 564 F.2d at 149, and the municipal defendant offered only the entirely unacceptable apprehension of violence, 564 F.2d at 150.  The Third Circuit therefore did not have anything of substance to weigh on the defendants’ side.  In Arlington Heights II, the consideration of the defendant’s justification scarcely moved past inquiring whether the municipal defendant was acting within the scope of zoning authority granted by state law.  558 F.2d at 1293.

In considering the defendant’s justification, we start with the framework of Title VII analysis.  When an employer’s facially neutral rule is shown to have a racially disproportionate effect on job applicants, that rule must be shown to be substantially related to job performance.  See Griggs v. Duke Power Co., 401 U.S. 424 (1971).  In a zoning case, the facially neutral rule is the provision of the zoning ordinance that bars the applicant and, in doing so, exerts a racially disproportionate effect on minorities.  The difficulty, however, is that in Title VIII cases there is no single objective like job performance to which the legitimacy of the facially neutral rule may be related.  A town’s preference to maintain a particular zoning category for particular sections of the community is normally based on a variety of circumstances.  The complexity of  the considerations, however, does not relieve a court of the obligation to assess whatever justifications the town advances and weigh them carefully against the degree of adverse effect the plaintiff has shown.  Though a town’s interests in zoning requirements are substantial, they cannot, consistently with Title VIII, automatically outweigh significant disparate effects.

A district court’s findings of fact may not be set aside “unless clearly erroneous.”  Fed.R.Civ.P. 52(a);   But Rule 52(a), the Supreme Court has held, “does not inhibit an appellate court’s power to correct errors of law, including those that may infect a so‑called mixed finding of law, or a finding of fact that is predicated on a misunderstanding of the governing rule of law.”  Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union of United States, Inc., 466 U.S. 485, 501 (1984). With these principles in mind, we review Judge Glasser’s findings in two areas7: the strength of the discriminatory effect and the import of the Town’s justifications.

The discriminatory effect of a rule arises in two contexts:  adverse impact on a particular minority group and harm to the community generally by the perpetuation of segregation.  Arlington Heights II, 558 F.2d at 1290. In analyzing Huntington’s restrictive zoning, however, the lower court concentrated on the harm to blacks as a group, and failed to consider the segregative effect of maintaining a zoning ordinance that restricts private multi‑family housing to an area with a high minority concentration.  Yet, recognizing this second form of effect advances the principal purpose of Title VIII to promote, “open, integrated residential housing patterns.”  Otero v. New York Housing Authority, 484 F.2d 1122, 1134 (2d Cir.1973).

Seventy percent of Huntington’s black population reside in Huntington Station and South Greenlawn.  Matinecock Court, with its goal of 25% minorities, would begin desegregating a neighborhood which is currently 98% white.  Indeed, the district court found that a “significant percentage of the tenants” at Matinecock Court would belong to minority groups.  The court, however, failed to take the logical next step and find that the refusal to permit projects outside the urban renewal area with its high concentration of minorities reinforced racial segregation in housing. This was erroneous.  Similarly, the district court found that the Town has a shortage of rental housing affordable for low and moderate‑ income households, that a “disproportionately” large percentage of the households using subsidized rental units are minority citizens, and that a disproportionately large number of minorities are on the waiting lists for subsidized housing and existing Section 8 certificates.  But it failed to recognize that Huntington’s zoning ordinance, which restricts private construction of multi‑family housing to the largely minority urban renewal area, impedes integration by restricting low‑income housing needed by minorities to an area already 52% minority. We thus find that Huntington’s refusal to amend the restrictive zoning ordinance to permit privately‑built multi‑family housing outside the urban renewal area significantly perpetuated segregation in the Town.

On the question of harm to blacks as a group, the district court emphasized that 22,160 whites and 3,671 minorities had incomes below 200% of the poverty line, a cutoff close to the Huntington Housing Authority’s qualification standards.  Thus, the district court focused on the greater absolute number of poor whites compared with indigent minorities in Huntington.  The district court, however, did not analyze the disproportionate burden on minorities as required by Griggs. By relying on absolute numbers rather than on proportional statistics, the district court significantly underestimated the disproportionate impact of the Town’s policy. Thus, the district court perceived facts through a misapprehension of the applicable law and we must make our own findings at least as to the significance of the undisputed underlying facts. 

The parties have stipulated that 28% of minorities in Huntington and 11% of whites have incomes below 200% of the poverty line.  What they dispute is the meaning of these statistics.  Judge Glasser found that, as the Town contends, there is no showing of discriminatory effect because a majority of the victims are white.  We disagree for reasons analogous to those the Supreme Court enumerated in Griggs.  The disparity is of a magnitude similar to that in Griggs, where the Court found discriminatory an employer’s policy of hiring only high school graduates because 12% of black males in North Carolina had high school diplomas while 34% of white males were high school graduates.  But the plaintiffs presented even stronger evidence reflecting the disparate impact of preventing the project from proceeding.  Under the Huntington HAP for 1982‑ 1985, 7% of all Huntington families needed subsidized housing, while 24% of the black families needed such housing.  In addition, minorities constitute a far greater percentage of those currently occupying subsidized rental projects compared to their percentage in the Town’s population.  Similarly, a disproportionately high percentage (60%) of families holding Section 8 certificates from the Housing Authority to supplement their rents are minorities, and an equally disproportionate percentage (61%) of those on the waiting list for such certificates are minorities.  Therefore, we conclude that the failure to rezone the Matinecock Court site had a substantial adverse impact on minorities.

In sum, we find that the disproportionate harm to blacks and the segregative impact on the entire community resulting from the refusal to rezone create a strong prima facie showing of discriminatory effect‑‑far more than the Rizzo test would require.  Thus, we must consider the Town’s asserted justifications.

Once a plaintiff has made a prima facie showing of discriminatory effect, a defendant must present bona fide and legitimate justifications for its action with no less discriminatory alternatives available.  Following McDonnell Douglas, a disparate treatment case, Judge Glasser held that if appellees articulated a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for their conduct, appellants must show that the reason is a “pretext.”   He went on to list the seven reasons in Butterfield’s October 14, 1980, letter to HUD and found them “legitimate, nondiscriminatory” reasons which “have not been exposed as pretextual.”  The McDonnell Douglas test, however, is an intent‑based standard for disparate treatment cases inapposite to the disparate impact claim asserted here.  No circuit, in an impact case, has required plaintiffs to prove that defendants’ justifications were pretextual.  In Black Jack, 508 F.2d at 1185, for example, the court required defendants to show that their conduct was necessary to promote a “compelling governmental interest.”  The Third Circuit in Rizzo rejected this standard for its own test of legitimate and bona fide concerns.

The Rizzo approach has two components:  (1) whether the reasons are bona fide and legitimate;  and (2) whether any less discriminatory alternative can serve those ends.  For analytical ease, the second prong should be considered first.  Concerns can usually be divided between “plan‑specific” justifications and those which are “site‑specific.”  “Plan‑specific” problems can be resolved by the less discriminatory alternative of requiring reasonable design modifications.  “Site‑specific” justifications, however, would usually survive this prong of the test.  Those remaining reasons are then scrutinized to determine if they are legitimate and bona fide.  By that, we do not intend to devise a search for pretext.  Rather, the inquiry is whether the proffered justification is of substantial concern such that it would justify a reasonable official in making this determination.  Of course, a concern may be non‑frivolous, but may not be sufficient because it is not reflected in the record.

Appellants challenge both the ordinance which restricts privately‑built multi‑family housing to the urban renewal area and the Town Board’s decision to refuse to rezone the Elwood‑Pulaski site.  All the parties and the district court judge, however, focused on the latter issue.  Indeed, appellees below simply relied on the existence of the Housing Assistance Plan and the zoning ordinance and failed to present any substantial evidence indicating a significant interest in limiting private developers to the urban renewal area.  On appeal, appellees now contend that the ordinance is designed to encourage private developers to build in the deteriorated area of Huntington Station.  Although we believe that the Town’s failure to raise this argument below precludes its consideration here, we briefly address this contention. The Town asserts that limiting multi‑family development to the urban renewal area will encourage restoration of the neighborhood because, otherwise, developers will choose to build in the outlying areas and will bypass the zone.  The Town’s goal, however, can be achieved by less discriminatory means, by encouraging development in the urban renewal area with tax incentives or abatements.  The Town may assert that this is less effective, but it may actually be more so.

Developers are not wed to building in Huntington;  they are filling a perceived economic void.  Developments inside the urban renewal area and outside it are not fungible.  Rather, developers prevented from building outside the urban renewal area will more likely build in another town, not the urban renewal area.  Huntington incorrectly assumes that developers limit their area of interest by political subdivision.  In fact, the decision where to build is much more complex.  Hence, if the Town wishes to encourage growth in the urban renewal area, it should do so directly through incentives which would have a less discriminatory impact on the Town.

We turn next to the Town’s reasons rejecting the Elwood‑Pulaski site. The 1980 letter written by Town Supervisor Butterfield detailed seven justifications for the Town’s refusal to rezone:  (1) inconsistency with the Town’s Housing Assistance Plan;  (2) inconsistency with zoning;  (3) traffic considerations;  (4) parking and fire protection problems;  (5) proximity to the railroad and Long Island Lighting Company substation;  (6) inadequate recreation and play areas;  and (7) undersized and unrealistic units.  As the judge below noted, the first two beg the question because appellants are challenging the Town’s zoning ordinance.  More significantly, as we have already indicated, the Town simply relied on the existence of the Housing Assistance Plan and the zoning ordinance and failed to present any substantial evidence indicating why precluding plaintiff from building a multi‑family housing project outside the urban renewal area would impair significant interests sought to be advanced by the HAP and the ordinance.  The fourth, sixth and seventh problems are “plan‑specific” issues which could presumably have been solved with reasonable design modifications at the time appellants applied for rezoning of the parcel.  The fifth concern also is largely plan‑specific because proper landscaping could shield the project from the railroad and substation.

Thus, only the traffic issue and health hazard from the substation are site‑ specific.  At trial, however, none of Huntington’s officials supported these objections.  Butterfield, for example, was primarily concerned that the Matinecock Court project would “torpedo” the Town’s plan to develop the site at Broadway and New York Avenue in the urban renewal area in Huntington Station.  Moreover, Huntington’s only expert, planner David Portman, set forth entirely different problems than were contained in Butterfield’s letters.  Specifically, he noted sewage concerns, lack of conformity with the low density of the surrounding neighborhood, and inaccessibility of the site to public transportation.  Once during his testimony, he did mention “the relationship [of the site] to the power station.”  Never, however, did he raise any concern about a health hazard from the proximity to the substation.  Indeed, appellees do not broach this issue in their brief to this court.  Accordingly, we find the reasons asserted are entirely insubstantial.

The sewage problem was first raised at trial…. Appellees now advance it as an additional concern.  The district court, however, chose not to consider it.  We agree.  Post hoc rationalizations by administrative agencies should be afforded “little deference” by the courts, and therefore cannot be a bona fide reason for the Town’s action.  Moreover, the sewage concern could hardly have been significant if municipal officials only thought of it after the litigation began.  If it did not impress itself on the Town Board at the time of rejection, it was obviously not a legitimate problem.  In sum, the only factor in the Town’s favor was that it was acting within the scope of its zoning authority, and thus we conclude that the Town’s justifications were weak and inadequate.

In balancing the showing of discriminatory effect against the import of the Town’s justifications, we note our agreement with the Seventh Circuit that the balance should be more readily struck in favor of the plaintiff when it is seeking only to enjoin a municipal defendant from interfering with its own plans rather than attempting to compel the defendant itself to build housing. As the Arlington Heights II court explained, “courts are far more willing to prohibit even nonintentional action by the state which interferes with an individual’s plan to use his own land to provide integrated housing.” Bearing in mind that the plaintiffs in this case seek only the freedom to build their own project, we conclude that the strong showing of discriminatory effect resulting from the Town’s adherence to its R‑3M zoning category and its refusal to rezone the Matinecock Court site far outweigh the Town’s weak justifications.  Accordingly, to recapitulate, we find that the Town violated Title VIII by refusing to amend the zoning ordinance to permit private developers to build multi‑family dwellings outside the urban renewal area.  We also find that the Town violated Title VIII by refusing to rezone the Matinecock Court site.  We thus reverse the district court and direct entry of judgment in appellants’ favor.12
Appellees argue that we should deny site‑specific relief because there are 64 “community development” sites available for low‑cost multi‑family housing in Huntington.  They claim that a 1978 letter from Town Attorney Ronald Glickman to Michael Miness, Director of the Community Development Agency, established that any land within the community development areas can be rezoned as R‑3M property.  The record, however, makes clear that Glickman’s interpretation of the zoning code was neither codified nor represents current Town policy.  As late as 1983, Town Supervisor Butterfield stated that the ordinance restricted private developers to the urban renewal zone.  The Town has maintained in its papers submitted to the district court and to the United States Supreme Court in its 1982 petition for certiorari in Huntington I that the R‑3M district “.... provided for multiple dwellings in urban areas, or;  if owned by the Housing Authority;  within or without such an area ...”  Moreover, not only are 63 of the “community development” parcels not presently zoned for multi‑family housing, but most of the sites are not in fact vacant but are “under‑ developed.”  Therefore, there is only one site, not 64 sites, zoned and available for private low‑cost multi‑family housing.  However, even as to the one site‑‑the MIA site in Huntington Station‑‑by the time of trial, HUD had determined it was in an area with a high concentration of minorities and therefore an inappropriate location for a federally subsidized housing development.

Ordinarily, HHI would not be automatically entitled to construct its project at its preferred site.  The Town might well have legitimate reasons for preferring some alternative site to the one preferred by HHI.  On the other hand, the Town would not be permitted to select a site that suits the Town’s preference if that site imposed undue hardships on the applicant, such as distance from public transportation or other services.  Thus, we would ordinarily remand this case to the district court to afford the appellees an opportunity to identify an alternative site, outside the urban renewal area, that would be appropriate for HHI’s project and eligible for the same financial arrangements and assistance available at the Matinecock Court site.  If the Town identified such a site, it would then have the burden of persuading the district court that there were substantial reasons for using its preferred site and that those reasons did not impose undue hardships on the appellants.  If the district court was not persuaded on balance of the benefits of an alternative site, it would then enter an appropriate judgment to enable HHI to proceed with its project at the Matinecock Court site.

This case, however, is not ordinary.  First, we recognize the protracted nature of this litigation, which has spanned over seven years.  Further delay might well prove fatal to this private developer’s plans.  Second, other than its decision in December 1987 to build 50 units of low‑income housing in the Melville section, the Town has demonstrated little good faith in assisting the development of low‑income housing.  After the Town began receiving federal community development funds, HUD found it necessary to pressure the Town continually to include commitments for construction of subsidized family housing in the Town’s HAPs.  Because of the Town’s lack of progress in constructing such housing, HUD imposed special conditions on the Town’s community development grants for the 1978 fiscal allocation.  Thereafter, HUD continued to express its dissatisfaction with the Town’s performance.  This history, while it does not rise to a showing of discriminatory intent, clearly demonstrates a pattern of stalling efforts to build low‑income housing.

Third, the other 63 parcels outside the urban renewal area are not presently zoned for multi‑family housing and, indeed, the zoning ordinance presently forbids rezoning of these properties.  Thus, this situation differs from Arlington Heights II, where 60 tracts currently zoned for multi‑family housing were available and, accordingly, the Seventh Circuit remanded the case to the district court to determine if one of those sites were suitable. Arlington Heights II, 558 F.2d at 1295.  Appellees cannot argue, as they do now, that the zoning ordinance does not now limit private builders to the urban renewal area when the Town Board in its January 6, 1981, resolution refused to amend the ordinance to delete the restriction of such housing to the urban renewal area, and appellees throughout this litigation have defended that decision.  We therefore refuse to remand this case to the district court to determine the suitability of the 63 sites outside the urban renewal area. Rather, we find that site‑specific relief is appropriate in this case.

Accordingly, we direct the district court to include in its judgment provision ordering the Town to rezone the 14.8 acre Matinecock Court site located at the corner of Elwood and Pulaski Roads in Huntington Township to R‑ 3M status.  The judgment should also order the Town to strike from its R‑3M zoning ordinance that portion which limits private multi‑family housing projects to the urban renewal area.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
TOWN OF HUNTINGTON v. HUNTINGTON BRANCH, NAACP 

488 U.S. 15 (1988)

PER CURIAM:  ... The town of Huntington, N.Y., has about 200,000 residents, 95% of whom are white and less than 4% black.  Almost three-fourths of the black population is clustered in six census tracts in the town’s Huntington Station and South Greenlawn areas.  Of the town’s remaining 42 census tracts, 30 are at least 99% white.

As part of Huntington’s urban renewal effort in the 1960’s, the town created a zoning classification (R-3M ...) permitting construction of multifamily housing projects, but by §198-20 of the Town Code, restricted private construction of such housing to the town’s “urban renewal area”—the section of the town in and around Huntington Station, where 52% of the residents are minorities.  Although §198-20 permits the Huntington Housing Authority (HHA) to build multifamily housing townwide, the only existing HHA project is within the urban renewal area.

Housing Help, Inc. (HHI), a private developer interested in fostering residential integration, acquired an option to purchase a site in Greenlawn/East Northport, a 98% white section of town zoned for single-family residences.  On February 26, 1980, HHI requested the town board to commit to amend §198-20 of the Town Code to permit multifamily rental construction by a private developer.  On January 6, 1981, the board formally rejected this request.  On February 23, 1981, HHI, the Huntington Branch of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), and two black, low-income residents of Huntington (appellees) filed a complaint against the town and members of the town board (appellants) ... alleging, inter alia, that they had violated [the FHA] by (1) refusing to amend the zoning code to allow for private construction of multifamily housing outside the urban renewal zone and (2) refusing to rezone the proposed site to R-3M. Appellees asserted that both of these claims should be adjudicated under a disparate-impact standard.  Appellants agreed that the facial challenge to the ordinance should be evaluated on that basis, but maintained that the decision not to rezone the proposed project site should be analyzed under a discriminatory-intent standard.

... The Court of Appeals held that, in order to establish a prima facie case, a Title VIII plaintiff need only demonstrate that the action or rule challenged has a discriminatory impact.  As to the failure to amend the zoning ordinance (which is all that concerns us here), the court found discriminatory impact because a disproportionately high percentage of households that use and that would be eligible for subsidized rental units are minorities, and because the ordinance restricts private construction of low-income housing to the largely minority urban renewal area, which “significantly perpetuated segregation in the Town.”  The court declared that in order to rebut this prima facie case, appellants had to put forth “bona fide and legitimate” reasons for their action and had to demonstrate that no “less discriminatory alternative can serve those ends.” The court found appellants’ rationale for refusal to amend the ordinance—that the restriction of multifamily projects to the urban renewal area would encourage developers to invest in a deteriorated and needy section of town—clearly inadequate.  In the court’s view, that restriction was more likely to cause developers to invest in towns other than Huntington than to invest in Huntington’s depressed urban renewal area, and tax incentives would have been a more efficacious and less discriminatory means to the desired end.  After concluding that appellants had violated Title VIII, the Court of Appeals directed Huntington to strike from §198-20 the restriction of private multifamily housing projects to the urban renewal area and ordered the town to rezone the project site to R-3M.

Huntington seeks review pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1254(2) on the basis that, in striking the zoning limitation from the Town Code, the Court of Appeals invalidated “a State statute ... as repugnant to” Title VIII, a “la[w] of the United States.”  Viewing the case as involving two separate claims, … we note jurisdiction, but limit our review to that portion of the case implicating our mandatory jurisdiction.  Thus, we expressly decline to review the judgment of the Court of Appeals insofar as it relates to the refusal to rezone the project site.

Since appellants conceded the applicability of the disparate-impact test for evaluating the zoning ordinance under Title VIII, we do not reach the question whether that test is the appropriate one.  Without endorsing the precise analysis of the Court of Appeals, we are satisfied on this record that disparate impact was shown, and that the sole justification proffered to rebut the prima facie case was inadequate. ... Accordingly, the judgment of the Court of Appeals is Affirmed.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
52.  Huntington Branch I lays out several different approaches to doing disparate impact analysis of actions of government defendants.  What are the differences between the Arlington Heights II approach, the Black Jack approach, and the approach adopted by the Second Circuit?  Which is preferable?
53.  What two kinds of disparate effects does the Huntington Branch I court identify?   What evidence of each did the court find here?  What other evidence did the court find relevant to support the plaintiffs’ claims?
54.  What is the difference between “site-specific” and “plan-specific” justifications?  How does that difference matter?   What type of justifications did the town offer in Huntington Branch I  and why did the court reject them?
55.  What is the precedential value of the U.S. Supreme Court opinion in Huntington Branch II ?
56.  What are the Second Circuit’s reasons in Huntington Branch I for adopting Disparate Impact analysis in Title VIII cases?  Do you find them persuasive?  
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
2. Private Defendants
BETSEY v. TURTLE CREEK ASSOCIATES
736 F.2d 983 (4th Cir. 1984)

HARRISON L. WINTER, Chief Judge: Turtle Creek Associates, et al., the partnerships and partners who own and manage a three‑building, high‑rise apartment complex in Silver Spring, Maryland, known as The Point, issued eviction notices to many of the tenants of Building Three, allegedly to institute an all‑adult rental policy.  Plaintiffs, tenants of Building Three, most of whom are black and most of whom have children residing with them, and a non‑profit corporation which has as its purpose elimination of discrimination in housing, sued the owners and managers for alleged violations of the Fair Housing Act.  Plaintiffs’ theory was that defendants acted with a racially discriminatory intent in seeking to evict them and that the evictions would have a disparate racial impact, both in violation of the Act.  They sought injunctive relief, damages, and attorneys’ fees. 

After trial, the district court ruled that plaintiffs had proved a prima facie case of discriminatory intent in the all‑adult conversion but that defendants had rebutted that evidence by proof that they were motivated by economic considerations and not race.  The district court also ruled that plaintiffs had not proved a prima facie case of disparate racial impact.  It therefore denied all relief and entered judgment for defendants on all claims.

Recognizing that the district court’s ruling that defendants had successfully rebutted plaintiffs’ proof of discriminatory intent depended largely on credibility determinations which were unassailable under the not clearly erroneous test, plaintiffs appeal only the ruling that they failed to prove a prima facie case of disparate racial impact.  We agree with plaintiffs that this ruling cannot stand.  We reverse the judgment and remand the case for further proceedings.

I.  The Point consists of three high‑rise buildings constructed in the 1960’s. Prior to September of 1979, the buildings, though they shared common facilities, had different owners.  In late 1979, Turtle Creek acquired all three buildings and began a systematic effort to upgrade the properties.  At the time Turtle Creek acquired The Point, Building Three was generally considered to be more desirable than its counterparts.1


Shortly after their acquisition of the complex, Turtle Creek instituted a series of new policies including:  substantial rent increases, eviction notices based on alleged incidents of vandalism, and a change in the security staff. In May of 1980, eviction notices were sent to all families with children residing in Building Three.  Tenants were required to move by August 1, 1980 or earlier if their leases had an earlier expiration date.  Tenants who agreed to move in sixty days were given the right to move into comparable apartments in one of the other buildings, subject, however, to availability.  Turtle Creek attempts to justify these evictions by contending that an “all‑adult” conversion was necessary to reduce the vacancy rates in the complex.

In July of 1980, this action was instituted.  Plaintiffs alleged a pattern of harassment against the black tenants at The Point, and they asserted a “deliberate and systematic effort to alter the racial character” of the property.  The “all‑adult” conversion policy resulting in eviction notices to families with children in Building Three was described as one part of a broad systematic effort to alter the racial composition of the complex.  The complaint sought damages and declaratory and injunctive relief including an order requiring the defendants to desist from enforcing the eviction notices. ...

In April of 1981, the district court filed an opinion holding that the all‑adult conversion of Building Three did not violate the Fair Housing Act.  The district court correctly ruled that plaintiffs may establish a prima facie case of racial discrimination under the Fair Housing Act in two ways:  by showing either that the act or practice complained of was racially motivated, or that it has a racially discriminatory impact.  Though the district court found from the evidence that plaintiffs had established a prima facie case of discriminatory intent, it also found that Turtle Creek effectively refuted the claim by articulating a “valid non‑discriminatory reason for the conversion.” The court identified various “economic considerations” as valid non‑discriminatory reasons. 

Initially, the district court expressed the view that it was “unnecessary” under these circumstances to consider whether the tenants had proved a prima facie case of discriminatory impact.  Nevertheless, it said that it “does not think plaintiffs could have done so.”  The district court reasoned that while “the immediate effect of the conversion will have a disproportionate impact on the black tenants”, there was no evidence it would have “a continuing disproportionate impact on blacks” or that it would “perpetuate or tend to cause segregated housing patterns at The Point.” 

After the district court’s opinion was filed, plaintiffs moved for reconsideration of the discriminatory impact issue.  Plaintiffs argued that it was essential for the district court to make a finding as to whether a prima facie case of discriminatory impact had been shown and, if a prima facie case had been proved, whether defendants had proven a “compelling business justification” for the evictions.  The district court, describing as “gratuitous” its original comment that it was “unnecessary” to determine whether a case of discriminatory impact had been adduced, found that no such case had been proved for the reasons stated in its earlier opinion. 

II.  We agree with the district court that a landlord’s housing practice may be found unlawful under Title VIII either because it was motivated by a racially discriminatory purpose or because it is shown to have a disproportionate adverse impact on minorities.  Smith v. Town of Clarkton, 682 F.2d 1055, 1065 (4th Cir.1982). In this case, there were issues of both discriminatory intent and impact.  As we have indicated, the district court’s judgment with respect to discriminatory intent is not before us.  Rather, the central issue on appeal is the district court’s treatment of the discriminatory impact issue.  This claim was dismissed with the following explanation: 

The statistics in this case do show that the immediate effect of the conversion will have a disproportionate impact on the black tenants.  However, there is no evidence that the conversion will have a continuing disproportionate impact on blacks.  In fact, the percentage of blacks at The Point continues to exceed by a substantial margin both the percentage of black renters in the election district in  which The Point is located as well as in Montgomery County as a whole.  Absent statistics which indicate that the conversion of Building Three would perpetuate or tend to cause segregated housing patterns at The Point, the court would be reluctant to find that plaintiffs had made a prima facie case of discriminatory impact.  There is no evidence that the conversion of Building Three will have a greater impact on blacks in the local community nor is there evidence that the conversion will perpetuate segregation at The Point. 

The district court’s rejection of clear proof of discriminatory impact thus rests on three factors:  the absence of a continuing disproportionate impact, the high percentage of blacks in the entire complex, and the insignificant impact of the policy on blacks in the local community.  We think that each of these factors is irrelevant to a prima facie showing of racially discriminatory impact.

In order to prevail in a discriminatory impact case under Title VIII, plaintiffs, members of a discrete minority, are required to prove only that a given policy had a discriminatory impact on them as individuals.  The plain language of the statute makes it unlawful “[t]o discriminate against any person.”  See 42 U.S.C. §3604(b).  Title VII cases construing almost identical language have resolved this question beyond serious dispute.  The Supreme Court has recently reaffirmed its position on this issue in Connecticut v. Teal, 457 U.S. 440 (1982).  There, it acknowledged that “[t]he principal focus of the statute [Title VII] is the protection of the individual employee, rather than the protection of the minority group as a whole.”  Id. at 453.  We and other courts of appeals have recognized the parallel objectives of Title VII and Title VIII.    Smith v. Town of Clarkton, supra at 1065;  Metropolitan Housing Development Corp. v. Village of Arlington Heights, 558 F.2d 1283 (7th Cir.1977), cert. denied 434 U.S. 1025 (1978) (Arlington II) Accordingly, we conclude that plaintiffs are not required to show a discriminatory impact on anyone but the existing minority residents of Building Three.  This simple verity renders consideration of the rest of the “local community”, the rest of The Point, or even prospective applicants for space in Building Three irrelevant.

The correct inquiry is whether the policy in question had a disproportionate impact on the minorities in the total group to which the policy was applied.3  In this case, the all‑adult conversion policy was applied to the residents in Building Three.  “Bottom line” considerations of the number and percentage of minorities in the rest of the complex or the community are “of little comfort” to those minority families evicted from Building Three.  Connecticut v. Teal, 457 U.S. at 454‑455.

Defendants argue that plaintiffs have in some way arbitrarily designated the tenants of Building Three as the relevant group on which to assess the impact of the conversion policy.  We disagree.  The conversion policy affects only the occupants of Building Three.  Thus, we see no merit in the argument that the effects of the conversion should be judged with reference to The Point as a whole. 

III.  From this record we think that there is little question that the all‑adult conversion policy for Building Three had a substantially greater adverse impact on minority tenants.  At the time when Turtle Creek began issuing eviction notices under the conversion policy, 62.9 percent of the tenants with children in the building were black and an additional 5.4 percent were other non‑whites or Hispanic.  In total, 54.3 percent of the non‑white tenants in the building received termination notices as opposed to only 14.1 percent of the white tenants.

When the statistics are converted to reflect the total number of individuals affected, the results are even more striking.  Of the total number of men, women and children living in Building Three, 74.9 percent of the non‑whites were given eviction notices while only 26.4 percent of the whites received such notices.  Under these circumstances, we believe a disparate impact is self‑evident.4
The findings of the district court are not to the contrary.  Indeed, the district judge acknowledged that “the immediate effect of the conversion will have a disproportionate impact on the black tenants.”  The district court erroneously concluded, however, that this alone was insufficient to establish a prima facie case of discriminatory impact.  Because the law clearly provides that such an immediate and substantial impact is sufficient, we reverse the judgment below and remand the case for further proceedings.

IV.
Because we  require further proceedings, it is not inappropriate for us to set forth guidelines to the district court in conducting them.  The burden confronting defendants faced with a prima facie showing of discriminatory impact is different and more difficult than what they face when confronted with a showing of discriminatory intent.  Defendants may overcome a prima facie showing of discriminatory intent by articulating some “legitimate non‑ discriminatory reason for the challenged practice.”  McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973). However, when confronted with a showing of discriminatory impact, defendants must prove a business necessity sufficiently compelling to justify the challenged practice.  Griggs v. Duke Power Co., 401 U.S. 424, 431 (1971).5  We have “frequently cited and applied” the business necessity formulation in employment discrimination cases arising under Title VII. 

Because the district court found no prima facie case of discriminatory impact had been established, it never reached the question of whether there was a business necessity compelling enough to justify the eviction policy.  In our view, the question is one for the district court in the first instance. Accordingly, we do not express any view as to whether the evidence is sufficient to sustain the business necessity defense, and remand the case for a determination of that issue.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
STATISTICS AND DISPARATE IMPACT



Every test for disparate impact requires the plaintiff to show (in some form) that the challenged act or policy disproportionately burdens a group of people defined by one of the forbidden characteristics.  Usually, plaintiffs meet this burden by introducing statistical evidence.  Analysis of these statistics is beyond the scope of the course.  I will try to give you disparate impact issues on exams where the disproportion is quite clear.  However, those of you who intend to practice in this area should have some exposure to some of the issues raised by the use of statistics.  This discussion will briefly address two related questions:  (1) How large a statistical disparity must there be to make out a prima facie case?  (2) In what form should statistics be presented?

(1) Extent of disparity.  In footnote 4 of Betsey, the court refers to Casteneda and Hazelwood, the two leading Supreme Court cases on this issue.  Here are the statistics that the Supreme Court found sufficient to show disparate impact in those cases:

% of community

% of those chosen
   prima facie 



in protected group
by policy in the group
   disparate impact?
Casteneda 

79


39


yes

60


37


yes

19.7


5


yes

27.1


9.1


yes

Hazelwood   

15.4


3.7


probably




  5.4


3.7


probably not

To clarify, in the first county at issue in Casteneda, 79% of the relevant community was Mexican-American, but the county’s selection policy resulted in a grand jury pool where only 39% of those chosen were Mexican-American.  In Hazelwood, although 15.4% of the available teachers in one pool, were African-American, the School District’s procedures selected a group of teachers for a particular set of jobs only 3.7% of  whom were African-American.  Note that in the pool where the disparity was much smaller (5.4% v. 3.7%), the Court indicated that the requisite showing probably had not been made.

(2) Form of presentation. The Fourth Circuit says that the statistics presented by the Betsey plaintiffs “easily meet the standards” set by the Supreme Court in these cases.  However, it is difficult to assess that claim, because the statistics are presented in a different form.  

Hazelwood and Casteneda both compare the proportion of the relevant background population who are in the protected class with the proportion of those selected by the challenged policy who are in the protected class.  In other words, if 50% of those eligible for jury duty are African-Americans, all else being equal, we would expect about 50% of those chosen for jury duty to be African-Americans. Where there are big disparities between these numbers, we might want decision-makers to defend their selection criteria.  

Betsey, by contrast, compares the proportion of the people in the protected class selected by the policy with the proportion of the people not in the protected class selected by the policy. Again, this is a logical comparison.  If the policy harms 54% of the non-white tenancies and only 14% of white tenancies, we again might want the decision-makers to defend their selection criteria.  However, because these statistics are in a form that is different that that employed in Hazelwood and Casteneda, it is hard to compare the cases.  

The Betsey statistics, when put in the form used in the Supreme Court cases, show that about 33% of the tenancies in the building were non-white, but 68% of the tenancies who were to be evicted were non-white.  This looks to be easily as significant a disparity as those approved in Casteneda.  Why then didn’t the lawyers present the data in the approved form?  Probably because they thought the fact-finder would believe that their statistical presentation (54% v. 14%) constituted a more significant disparity than the one they would present using the approved approach  (68% v. 33%).   

The moral of the story is that there are multiple ways to present the same statistics.  Lawyers will tend to choose the approach that appears to place their client in the best light.  Thus, you must be very careful when you assess statistics in these cases and expert assistance is usually required.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

57.
Why did the District Court in Betsey find no disparate impact?  What did the Court of Appeals find wrong with the District Court’s reasoning?  What is the structure of the legal analysis that the court employs to evaluate the disparate impact claim?  
58.
Assume that the only available defense to a disparate impact claim is “business necessity.”  What type of evidence might be sufficient to meet that standard in Betsey?  

59.  How should the court analyze disparate impact cases when then policy complained of is primarily economic?  Should landlords/sellers be entitled to get as much profit as possible, even if there is a disparate impact?  If not, how do you decide how much profit is sufficient under a business necessity or similar test?

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
CONGDON v. STRINE

854 F.Supp. 355 (E.D. Penn. 1994)

DALZELL, District Judge:  Plaintiffs Linda Congdon and her husband Paul Congdon filed this action against defendant Walter Strine …, alleging handicap discrimination in violation of the [FHAA] …. Plaintiffs’ complaint alleges that defendant’s maintenance policies regarding the elevator in the apartment building where the Congdons live fail to take account of Mrs. Congdon’s disability, and that defendant’s eviction threat was in retaliation for filing complaints with governmental agencies.  Strine has filed a motion for summary judgment.  For the reasons that follow, we will grant his motion.

Factual Background.  The Congdons reside in an apartment [in a building] which Strine owns … on the fourth floor[, which] may be reached by use of the stairway or the elevator.  During the first year of occupancy, the Congdons had a one-year lease;  since that time their tenancy has been on a month to month basis.  Mrs. Congdon suffers from various diseases, and since 1992 has been largely confined to a wheelchair.  Some time before January of 1993, the building’s elevator “began to experience recurring breakdowns”.  Because of these breakdowns, Mrs. Congdon “has used the stairs and had some physical problems that may be related to her increased activity.”  

  
In April of 1993, the Congdons filed a complaint with the [Pennsylvania] Bureau of Consumer Protection … describing the problems with the elevator and their alleged discriminatory effects.  The Congdons also filed complaints with the Delaware County Consumer Affairs Department, and … with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), alleging a violation of the Fair Housing Act.    The next day, HUD referred its complaint to the Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission. 

On May 26, 1993, Strine advised the Congdons that their lease was not being renewed and that they were to vacate the premises by August 31, 1993.   The Congdons did not vacate the premises….  Strine took no action against them, however, and has neither taken further action to evict plaintiffs nor filed any legal proceedings against them. Strine offered to rent to the Congdons a ground floor apartment in the same building or, alternatively, an apartment in another building he owned, but the Congdons rejected both offers as unsuitable.  …

Legal Analysis. … The Congdons claim that Strine violated §3604(f) … which make[s] it unlawful to discriminate in the sale or rental of housing because of a disability.  It is undisputed that Mrs. Congdon is handicapped within the meaning of the statute.

Denial of Housing under 42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(1).  Before we examine whether plaintiffs have made out a prima facie case under Title VIII, we must first determine whether defendant’s actions implicate the FHAA. ... This case differs from most Title VIII cases in that there was no actual denial of housing.  It is undisputed that Strine continues to rent an apartment to the Congdons and that Linda Congdon has been living in the apartment since 1983. There is no evidence that Strine discriminated in renting to Mrs. Congdon or that she has been denied housing.  The Congdons essentially claim that the threatened eviction and the refusal to provide reasonable accommodations violate §3604(f)(1). Thus, we must determine whether Strine’s actions fall within the ambit of the “otherwise make unavailable or deny” language of §3604(f)(1).

  
In Growth Horizons, Inc. v. Delaware County, 983 F.2d 1277 (3d Cir.1993), our Court of Appeals stated that:

[w]e would be reluctant to hold that a plaintiff asserting a claim under §3604(f)(1) must prove that the defendant made it impossible for a handicapped person to occupy a dwelling.  We think it likely that conduct short of foreclosing a housing opportunity altogether may violate the statute.

Although the Court of Appeals did not elaborate in Growth Horizons on what specific conduct it had in mind, we do not believe it contemplated the undramatic setting presented here as one which would violate the statute.

While a threat of eviction should not be taken lightly, Strine and his agents made offers to rent other apartments to the Congdons, including an offer to rent her an apartment in the same building on the first floor. Strine took no further actions to enforce the eviction notice. Indeed, Strine never denied housing to the Congdons.  To the contrary, Strine undisputedly offered the Congdons alternatives, albeit not to their taste.  

Although the Congdons do not specify what reasonable accommodations they think Strine must provide, we infer that they want Strine to provide better repairs to the elevator, a new elevator, or another apartment that is acceptable to Mrs. Congdon’s needs for accessibility and parking.  Taking as true that defendant failed to provide a trouble-free elevator or another apartment to plaintiffs’ liking, the Congdons still were not denied housing.  There is no evidence that Mrs. Congdon was unable to return to her apartment and had to spend the night elsewhere.  The Congdons only allege that Mrs. Congdon at times “miss[ed] appointments and other daily activities” because she was unable to leave the apartment.  Although it appears that Mrs. Congdon was inconvenienced, we do not find that these actions fall within the meaning of  “make unavailable” or “deny” in §3604(f)(1) any more than the occasional failure of the elevators in this courthouse “deny” courtrooms to litigants.  Thus, we cannot find that defendant’s conduct implicates §3604(f)(1) of Title VIII.
Discriminatory Provision of Services under 42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(2).  ... The Congdons do not allege that their terms, conditions or privileges of the rental differed from other tenants.  In essence, the Congdons claim that Strine discriminated against them by providing poor elevator service.  They allege that Strine’s maintenance practices regarding the elevator were discriminatory because the breakdown of the elevator understandably created more hardships for Mrs. Congdon than it did to non-handicapped tenants.  “To make out a prima facie case under Title VIII, a plaintiff can show either discriminatory treatment ... or discriminatory effect alone, without proof of discriminatory intent ...” Doe v. Butler, 892 F.2d 315, 323 (3d Cir.1989).  We shall consider the Congdons’ “discriminatory treatment” and “discriminatory effect” theories separately.

  
For the Congdons to succeed on a “discriminatory treatment” claim, they need to show that Strine adopted and carried out his maintenance policies regarding the elevator with the intent to discriminate against Mrs. Congdon because of her disability. … The Congdons have not submitted any facts to show that Strine had such a discriminatory motive with regard to the elevator maintenance policies.  Plaintiffs only generally allege that Strine was motivated by a discriminatory intent.  They proffer no evidence that Strine acted differently in providing elevator services to Mrs. Congdon.  The elevator’s imperfections doubtless vexed all the tenants, not solely Mrs. Congdon.  Strine thus did not stop providing elevator service exclusively to Mrs. Congdon.

Although we find no evidence of discriminatory treatment, plaintiffs need only show that Strine’s policy regarding the elevator’s maintenance had a discriminatory effect. In considering the scope of the FHAA, we agree with the Seventh Circuit’s refusal “to conclude that every action which produces discriminatory effects is illegal.”  Metropolitan Housing Development Corp. v. Village of Arlington Heights, 558 F.2d 1283, 1290 (7th Cir.1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1025 (1978).  The Seventh Circuit in that case listed four factors to guide a court in determining what conduct that produces a discriminatory impact, but which is taken without discriminatory intent, violates §3604(a). …

  
The first factor looks at how strong is the plaintiffs’ showing of discriminatory effect.  The Congdons submit evidence alleging that the elevator often suffered mechanical problems or broke down completely.  Mrs. Congdon avers that when the elevator broke down she “has been forced to remain in her apartment and to miss appointments and other daily activities.”  Clearly, the elevator breakdowns affected Linda Congdon more severely than non-disabled tenants.  There were times when she was unable to access her apartment without assistance or hardship, and was in general less able to enjoy her apartment.  Therefore, we find that plaintiffs have made a showing of discriminatory effect in the provision of services to Linda Congdon.  The first factor thus weighs in plaintiffs’ favor.

  
With regard to the second factor, we must again look to see if there is evidence of discriminatory intent.  The Congdons have proffered no facts supporting their allegation of discriminatory intent.  In fact, Strine has offered Mrs. Congdon occupancy in other apartments and maintains a repair and servicing contract for the elevator. The Congdons have submitted no evidence that the defendant willfully kept the elevator in a state of disrepair because of Mrs. Congdon’s disability. Therefore, the second factor weighs in Strine’s favor.

  
The third factor, which asks us to consider “defendant’s interest in taking the action complained of,” also weighs in Strine’s favor.  Defendant has no business interest in having a faulty elevator that drives out frustrated tenants.  Strine has a maintenance contract with an elevator servicing company precisely to serve his business interest of making it possible for all tenants to have elevator service.  This company frequently serviced the offending elevator. We therefore can perceive no interest Strine would have in perpetuating faulty elevator service.


The fourth [Arlington Heights] factor directs us to examine the relief plaintiffs seek, i.e., whether the Congdons want us to compel Strine affirmatively to provide services or whether they seek to restrain Strine from deliberately reducing the level of services he provides to Mrs. Congdon.  This examination is predicated on the economic realities of affirmative relief:  “To require a defendant to appropriate money, utilize his land for a particular purpose, or take other affirmative steps toward integrated housing is a massive judicial intrusion on private autonomy.”  [Arlington Heights,] 558 F.2d at 1293.

  
The Congdons alternatively seek that this Court compel Strine to repair the elevator so that it always works properly, to replace the existing elevator with a new one, or to provide her with occupancy in another apartment.  If the Congdons remain in their present unit (which seems to be their desire in view of their refusal to accept the alternatives proffered them), it seems that Strine would have to achieve the impossible to please them.  Even a perfect landlord cannot maintain a completely problem-free elevator.  Elevators are subject to malfunctioning like all mechanical devices.

  
The Congdons have not presented any facts which suggest that Strine is providing a level of services inferior to the level of services he provides to the other tenants in the building.  Especially in view of the alternatives Strine has offered the Congdons, we find no basis in §3604(f)(2) that authorizes us to order Strine to install a new elevator or to assure that the present one is trouble-free.

“Reasonable Accommodations”.  Before we leave our analysis of whether there was a violation of §3604(f), the Congdons ask us to consider subsection 3, which provides, in relevant part:

For purposes of this subsection discrimination includes-- ... 

(B) a refusal to make reasonable accommodations in rules, policies, practices, or services, when such accommodations may be necessary to afford such person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling ...

  
In Southeastern Community College v. Davis, 442 U.S. 397 (1979), the Supreme Court held that an accommodation is not reasonable if (1) it would require a “fundamental alteration in the nature of a program,” or (2) if it would impose “undue financial or administrative burdens” on the defendant. Applying this general rule, the District Court of New Jersey stated:

“Reasonable accommodation” means changing some rule that is generally applicable to everyone so as to make its burden less onerous on the handicapped individual.  Thus, where everyone is provided with ‘equal access’ to a building in the form of a staircase, reasonable accommodation to those in wheelchairs may require building a ramp.

Oxford House, Inc. v. Cherry Hill, 799 F.Supp. 450, 462 n.25 (D.N.J. 1992).

  
The Congdons claim that Strine did not make a “reasonable accommodation” of Mrs. Congdon’s disability.  Although it is not clear from the complaint, it appears that plaintiffs base their claim on their allegations that Strine did not keep the elevator in better working condition, did not replace the elevator, or offer the Congdons another apartment that would accommodate Mrs. Congdon’s disabilities.  

  
Strine argues that he did make reasonable accommodations for Mrs. Congdon’s disability in that he had a regular elevator maintenance contract, and offered the Congdons a first floor apartment in the same building, as well as another apartment in a building with two elevators. Lastly, Strine argues that forcing him to install a new elevator in the building would impose an undue financial burden because a new elevator would cost sixty-five to seventy thousand dollars, and such an expenditure would not be a reasonable accommodation for a month-to-month tenant. The Congdons have not submitted any evidence of requests for reasonable accommodations that they made and were refused other than for a new elevator and to make the existing elevator trouble-free.  

We agree with Strine that forcing him to install a new elevator would constitute, in this context, “a massive judicial intrusion on private autonomy.”  Such an intrusion would offend any decent respect for proportionality given that the Congdons seek a $65,000 capital expenditure when they are free to walk away from Strine on payment of only one month’s rent. The Congdons’ extravagant demand for such an “accommodation” thus cannot be deemed to be “reasonable”.

As we have previously mentioned, Strine has a contract with an elevator maintenance company, and he submits undisputed evidence that repairs were made regularly.  Thus, it does not seem that Strine failed to make a reasonable accommodation in his elevator maintenance for Mrs. Congdon’s disability.  We are further fortified in our conclusion because of Strine’s good faith effort to accommodate Mrs. Congdon by offering her occupancy in other apartments.  Thus, we do not find discrimination pursuant to §3604(f)(3).

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

60.  In Congdon, the court applies the Arlington Heights II test for assessing disparate impact.  What is the neutral policy the court is assessing?  Be prepared to work through each of the four Arlington Heights factors in class.  Do you agree with the court’s analysis of each?  

61.  Assume the court in Congdon had applied Betsey to assess the disparate impact claim instead of Arlington Heights.  What result?  
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1 The Court notes, in conclusion, that its decision not to recognize §§1981and 1982 as creating a cause of action for discriminatory advertising in the instant case is of limited practical effect here.  The Court has already held that plaintiffs have proven a Fair Housing Act violation based on the same facts and awarded them compensatory, but not punitive, damages.  Identical damages are sought for the alleged §1981 and §1982 violations.  Because plaintiffs would not be entitled to recover double damages, the Court's ruling on the scope of Sections 1981 and 1982 has limited practical significance.





2 The district court certified a class of “[a]ll black, Hispanic and lower income persons in need of lower cost housing opportunities in Huntington and surrounding areas and who would qualify for residency in the proposed Matinecock Court and other Section 8 projects in Huntington, and who seek to reside in and insure opportunity for racially and economically integrated housing in Huntington.” “Section 8” [is] a federal program that provides subsidies for newly�constructed and substantially�rehabilitated housing.


5 Although pre�approval was granted, the project was delayed by community opposition and by an attempt by Butterfield to reserve 30 units for the elderly and to set a limit on black participation of 10%.  In June 1981, Alan Weiner, HUD’s Area Manager, suspended pre�approval.


7 Because we hold that we will no longer require a showing of discriminatory intent in Title VIII disparate impact claims, we do not review Judge Glasser’s findings on intent to discriminate.


12 In its brief, the Town asks us to take judicial notice of a new proposal, approved by the Town Board in December, 1987, to build 50 units of subsidized housing in the Melville section.  Although this proposed action is indeed laudable, we do not consider it.  It is entirely speculative and smacks of a mid�litigation effort to demonstrate that the Town is acting in good faith.  Moreover, the Town’s action does not address the appellants’ chief concern:  that the zoning code perpetuates racial segregation in housing by restricting privately�built multi�family dwellings to the urban renewal area.


1 Building Three had been extensively repaired and refurbished after it was acquired by Turtle Creek.  One of defendants’ employees described Building One as “on the whole quite disastrous,” and Building Two as in “very poor” condition with ripped, soiled carpet and a foul odor.


3  By stressing the emphasis given in Title VII and Title VIII to the protection of individuals, we do not mean to suggest that this is the only way in which a discriminatory effect may be proved.  Rather, we have endorsed the view espoused by the Seventh Circuit in Arlington II.  See Town of Clarkton.  In Arlington II, the court noted that there are two kinds of racially discriminatory effects that a facially neutral decision about housing can produce.  The first, as in this instance, occurs when a decision has a greater adverse impact on one race than another.  The second concerns the effect of a decision on the entire community involved.  For example, if a policy perpetuates segregation and thereby prevents interracial association, it will be considered invidious under the Fair Housing Act notwithstanding the fact that it may have no immediate impact. The error of the district court in this case was concentrating on the second type of discriminatory impact without considering the first.


4 The statistical significance of these figures easily meets the standards employed by the Supreme Court in Castenada v. Partida, 430 U.S. 482 (1977), and Hazelwood School District v. United States, 433 U.S. 299 (1977).


5 The four�prong Clarkton analysis should not be applied in this situation.  Clarkton announced four critical factors to determine whether a violation of the Fair Housing Act has occurred.  Those four factors are:  (1) the strength of the plaintiff’s showing of discriminatory effect;  (2) any evidence of discriminatory intent, even if insufficient to show constitutional violations;  (3) the defendant’s interest in taking the action complained of;  and (4) whether the plaintiff seeks affirmative remedies or merely to restrain the defendant from interference with private property owners who wish to provide housing for minorities.  As the last component of this analysis suggests, the Clarkton test has been applied only in situations where a public body is the defendant.  Where, as here, a private entity is involved the analysis is more straightforward.  The inquiry is whether either discriminatory intent or impact can be proved and, if either or both is proved, whether there is a legitimate non�discriminatory reason sufficient to overcome the showing of intent, or whether a compelling business necessity exists, sufficient to overcome the showing of disparate impact.  Obviously, a business necessity test is inapplicable in situations where the defendant is a public entity.  The Clarkton formulation similarly has no application to private defendants.
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